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EXTRAORDINARY INFORMATION DISCLOSURE
- Uy Ban Chiing Khosn Nha nwéc

- 8¢ Giao dich Chirng khoin Ha N§i

- Sate Securities Commission of Vietnam
- Hanoi Stock Exchange

Kinh giki:

To:

1. Tén t6 chirc/ Name of organization: TONG CONG TY CHAN NUOI VIET NAM - CTCP

- M3 chimg khoén/ Stock code: VI.C

- Dia chi/ Address: 519 Minh Khai, Phudmg Vinh Tuy, Quan Hai Ba Trung, Ha Noi

- Dién thoai 1ién hé/ Tel: 024.3862 1688

- E-mail: ir@yvilico.vn

2. N6i dung théng tin cong bd/ Contents of disclosure :

Nghi quyet HDQT s6 08/2025/VLC/NQ-HDQT ngay 25/03/2025 théng qua tai li€u hop Pai hbi
dbdng cb dong thudng nién ndm 2025

Resolution No. 08/2025/VLC/NQ-HPQT on March 25th, 2025, Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders 2025 documents

Théng tin ndy d& dugc cong b trén trang thong tin dién tir clia cOng ty vao ngdy 25/03/2025 tai
dudmng din https:/www.vilico.vn/ muc Thong tin cb déng/ This information was published on the
company’s website on 25/03/2025 (date), as in the link https://www.vilico.vn/ shareholder

information section.

Chiing t6i xin cam ket céc thong tin cong bd trén day 1a dung su thit va hodn toan chiu trach nhiém
truée phdp ludt vé ndi dung cac théng tin dd cong bd/ We hereby certify that the information

provided is true and correct and we bear the full responsibility to the law.

Dai dién Tng Cong ty
Chén nudi Viét Nam — CTCP
Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC
representative -
Noudi UQ CBTT




TONG CONG TY CHAN NUOI CONG HOA XA HQI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

VIET NAM - CTCP Pic lip — Tw do — Hanh phiic
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
-JSC Independence — Freedom — Happiness
---000--- ---000---
Sb/No.: 08/2025/VLC/NQHDQT Ha Ngi/Hanoi, ngay/date 25 thang/month 03
nam/year 2025

Re:

Cin cie/Pursuant to:

NGHI QUYET/RESOLUTION
V/v Thong qua tai liéu hop Dai hji d‘é‘ng 6 dong thuong nién nam 2025
The approval of Meeting Materials of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

HOQI PONG QUAN TRI
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TONG CONG TY CHAN NUOI VIET NAM ~ CTCP
OF VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Ludit Doanh nghiép sé 59/2020/QH14 duoc Quéc héi thong qua ngay 17/06/2020 va cdc
ban hwéng dén thi hanh;

Enterprise Law No. 59/2020/QH14 was passed by the National Assembly on June 17, 20 .
along with the implementing regulations,

Diéu Ié ciia Tong Céng Ty Chin nuéi Viét Nam — CTCP (“Cong ty”);

The Charter of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC (“the Company”)

Bién ban kiém phiéu Idy y kién bang vin ban cimg ngay.

The minutes of the vote by written opinion on the same day.

QUYET NGHI/DECIDES

Piéu 1: Thong qua Bj tai liéu hop Pai hdi ddng cd dong thwing nién nim 2025 (“PHPCDH”
ciia Cong ty bao gdm cic tai li¢u sau:

Article 1: Approval of the meeting documents for the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (“AGM”) of the Company, which includes the following materials

1.

Béo céo cua Hoi ddng quan tri (“HPQT”) cho nam 2024,
The report of the Board of Directors ("BOD") for 2024,

Bao céo cuia Ban kiém soat (“BKS”) cho nam 2024;

Report of the Inspection Committe (“IC”) for 2024

Bao cdo tai chinh nam 2024 dugc kiém toén;

Audited 2024 financial statements;

Bo céo tinh hinh sir dung von da kiém toan trong nam 2024;
The audited report on the 2024 capital usage;



5. Phan phéi l¢i nhuéin nim 2024:
Profit Distribution for 2024;
6.  Ké hoach doanh thu, l¢i nhuén nim 2025;
Revenue and profit guidance for 2025;
7. Lua chon don vi kiém to4n doc 14p cho nim tai chinh 2025;
Selection of independent auditors for fiscal year 20235;
8.  Thu lao cia HPQT va BKS nam 2025;
Remuneration for the BOD and the IC in 2025,
9. Béu thanh vién HDQT nhiém ky 2025-2029;
Election of members of the BOD for the 2025-2029 term;
10. Béu thanh vién BKS nhiém ky 2025-2029;
Election of members of the IC for the 2025-2029 term;
11.  Quy ché t6 chirc PHPCP nim 2025;
Regulation on organization of the AGM;
12. Théng b4do moi hop PHDCD;
Notice of invitation to the AGM
13. Théng bdo dé cir, img cir thanh vién HPQT, Ban kiém soat;
Notice of Nomination and Self-Nomination of candidates to be elected as members of
the BOD and IC;
14. Mau d& cir, ing cir thanh vién HDQT, Ban kiém sot;
Nomination form for candidates for members of BOD and IC;
15. M?au so yéu ly lich va ké khai théng tin {mg vién;
Curriculum Vitae template and candidate information disclosure form.
16. Du thao Nghi quyét PHPCPD thudng nién ndm 2025.
Drafi of Resolution of the AGM.

Pidu 2: Nghi quyét nay ¢6 hiéu lyc ké tir ngay ky. C4c thanh vién HDQT, Ban Téng Gidm déc va
céc phong ban lién quan chiu trach nhiém thi hanh Nghi quyét ndy.

Article 2: This resolution takes effect from the date of signing. The members of the BOD, the Board
of Managers, and the relevant departments are responsible for the implementation of this

resolution.

Noi nhdn/ Recipients:
- HDQT, BKS/BOD, IC;
- Ban Téng Giam déc Cong ty;
Board of Managers of the Company
- Cdc phong, ban thugc Céng Ty;
Departments and divisions of the Company;
- Luu VP/Archive (Office).




VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION -JSC

Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street, Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City, Vietnam
Business Registration No.: 0100104443 issued on 30" June 2010, 12" change registration on 16"
November 2023 by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment.

INVITATION LETTER
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS IN 2025

To: RESPECTED SHAREHOLDERS
The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Vilico” or the “Company”) would like to invite our

respected shareholders with the following information to attend the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (the
“AGM”) of Vilico:

Name of Shareholder :  (Bold and big font size)
Address : (Bold and big font size)
Telephone number : (Bold and big font size)

Custodian Code (issued by Vietnam Securities Depository):

Information of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Vilico is specified as follows:

1. Time of meeting: on 23" April 2025, the meeting is scheduled to begin at 1:30 PM and concluded at 5:00 PM (Vietnam time).

2. Form of meeting: ONLINE MEETING. Shareholders are kindly requested to access the Online meeting system at the following
address: https://agm.vilico.vn or scan QR Code below to attend the meeting.

3. Meeting agenda: Discussion of issues within the decision-making authority of the AGM as mentioned in the meeting’s documents.

4. Meeting’s documents: Documents used for the AGM shall be published on the website of the Company at the following address:
https:/Avww.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong/ (no later than 02" April 2025). In addition, in order to support respected shareholders in
registering for attendance and voting at the online meeting, the Company will also provide guidelines on the registration and voting
procedures for the online meeting at the Company’s website as mentioned above.

5. Shareholder or group of shareholders holding at least five (05) percent of the total ordinary shares of the Company may propose
issues to be included in or comment on the agenda of the AGM. Proposals and comment shall be made in writing and sent to Vilico
no later than seven (7) working days prior to the opening date of the meeeting.

6. Proxy toattend the AGM: In casse a shareholder cannot attend the meeting and wish to authorize other organizations/individual(s)
to attend the meeting on their behalf, please send the valid Power of Attorney to the Company no later than 22" April 2025 by
one of the following forms: (1) by post/guaranteed delivery services to the mailing addresss mentioned in Item 7 below or (2)
send it by email to the following email address: Vilico)oAGM@vilico.vn. Respected shareholders can download the template
of Power of Attorney from the following links: https:/Amww.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong/, or they may prepare their own template
(which must include details of the authorizing party and the authorized party (proxy), the contents of authorization and the number
of shares for which there is authorization).

7. Forany inquires related to the organization of the AGM, shareholders are kindly requested to contact us at:

Vietnam L.ivestock Corporation —JSC
14" Floor, Building A, Handiresco Tower, 521 Kim Ma, Ngoc Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi City, Vietnam
Email: Vilico)oAGM@vilico.vn Telephone: (+84) 243 862 1688

Yours Sincerely,

On behalf of BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRWOMAN

MAI KIEU LIEN


https://agm.vilico.vn/
https://www.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong/
mailto:VilicoAGM@vilico.vn
https://www.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong/
mailto:VilicoAGM@vilico.vn

TEMPLATE
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

For attendance and voting at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2025
of Vietham Livestock Corporation - Joint Stock Company

.............................................................................................................

PO s i R S T e e e R S S R R S e e R A R
ID No./Passport No/Enterprise Registration NO. ...veir e i cire e eae e sv e sae e nreeseenne s
DAte OF ISSUE: 1. ovveresieres e e sne e an s snaress s eananes Place of iSSUE: .. vvveeeieeeieei it e
The legal representative of shareholders being an organization: ........c.ccvviiiiiiiiicr i e

The otk ber o R shares GRS .o st i S e e T B O A S N SRR R S o
(hereinafter referred to as the “Prineipal”)

Hereby authorize the following Individual/Organization:

INEGE OF TR GEBENBIEINS . ....oucnnumiavs oo S A TR AR O T A o
B i s s A S s A A 8 B R S DA S O R e S e S S AR S o
ID No./Passport No,/Enterprise Registration WO civvivna s s ainiiiiis i s i adineres :
Date O 1850BY: oo oo s s S o Place of IBSUEE cvvusvaiiiins i S i v il i

Cell phone NO.I vevvviieiirerererisiareanneanns BB iR R S R ;

(hereinafier referred to as the “Proxy™)

CONTENTS OF AUTHORIZATION

The Proxy shall be the authorized representative of the Principal in respect of .................. 3 shares owned by
the Principal and shall on behalf of the Principal attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2025 (the
“AGM?™) of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - Joint Stock Company (the “Company™), which will be held on April
23rd, 2025, and shall exercise shareholder rights and obligations with respect to the number of shares mentioned
above in accordance with the applicable laws and the Charter of the Company.

The Proxy shall act within the scope of the authorization granted in this Power of Attorney.

The Principal and the Proxy hereby fully understand the nature, all legal consequences and shall take
responsibility for this authorization and undertake that the parties strictly comply with the applicable laws and the
Company’s Charter. The Parties undertake that they will not make any claim against the Company for this
authorization.

This Power of Attorney shall be effective from its signing date hereof until the closing of the AGM of the

Company.
RNV . /| PR SRISSNROSI . | ) 1
THE PRINCIPAL THE PROXY
(Signature, full name, seal (if any)) (Signature, full name, seal (if any))

Please provide the copy of ID Card/Passport/Enterprise Registration Certificate of the Principal and the Proxy. In case
the Proxy is an organization, please provide the Power of Attorney/Introduction Leiter made by this organization to
appoint its authorized representative(s) to attend the meeting together with the copy of ID Card'Passport of such
authorized represeniative(s),

Please fill in the information of cell phone number and email address of the Proxy so that the Company can provide the
Proxy with verification code (i.e. OTP) to access and attend the online meeting.

Please fill in all or part of the number of shares owned by the Shareholder, depending on the Shareholder's decision.



VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street, Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District. Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma. Ba Dinh District, Hanoi
Phaone: (1243 862 1688; Website: www.vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, 1 2th revision dated November 16, 2023

VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
(Stock Code: VLC)

Meeting Materials
THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
April 23 2025
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VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street. Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building. 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi
Phone: 0243 862 |688; Website: www vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, | 2th revision dated November 16, 20123

AGENDA OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS (“AGM”)

Estimated Time:

Format:
Estimated time
13:30-13:35
13:35 - 13:40
13:40 - 13:55

13:55- 14:30

14:30-15:15
15:15-15:25
15:25 - 15:30
15:30 - 15:45
15:45 - 15:50
15:50 - 16:00

16:05

VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

13:30 — 17:00, Wednesday, April 23, 2025

Online at No. 10 Tan Trao, Tan Phu Ward, District 7, Ho Chi Minh City
Content _
Shareholder e_li'gibi]i_t'y verification report

Opening of the Meeting; Introduction of delegateg a;:dgue::_m i
- Introduction of the Presidium
- Introduction of the Secretariat
- Approval of the AGM Agenda
- Election of the Vote Counting Committee
Matters to be submitted for the General M;e_ﬁEB?_S_;iié}éh_dl;iéﬂ‘_(z‘AGM”)
approval:
1. The report of the Board of Directors ("BOD") for 2024
The report of the Inspection Committee ("IC") for 2024
The audited 2024 Financial Statements
The audited report on the 2024 capital usage
The profit distribution for 2024
The revenue and profit guidance for 2025
The selection of an independent auditors for fiscal year 2025
The remuneration of the BOD and IC for 2025
. The election of members of the BOD for the 2025-2029 term
10. The election of members of the IC for the 2025-2029 term

0 QB = IO kg i B

Discussion on the Meeting Agenda matters
Voting

Announcement of voting results

Election -
Announcement of voting results

'AE@J of the Minutes of the Meeri'ng and Announcement of AGM
Resolutions

Closing



VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Head Quarter: No, 519, Minh Khai Street. Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A. Handiresco Building. 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District. Hanoi
Phone: 0243 862 1658, Website: www. vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, |2th revision dated November 16, 20023

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

MATTER 1: THE AGENDA OF THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors (BOD) respectfully submits to the AGM to approve the agenda of the AGM as
mentioned above.

MATTER 2: THE VOTE COUNTING COMMITTEE

In order to support the Organizing committee in vote counting and election, the BOD respectfully
submits to the AGM to approve the personnel in the Vote Counting Committee as follows:

» Ms. Hoang Thi Ha Head
s Ms. Ho Thi Ngoc Dung Member
e Ms. Nghiem Thi Quyen Independent Member

DETAILED MATTERS SUBMITTED FOR THE AGM’S APPROVAL

MATTER 3: THE REPORT OF THE BOD FOR 2024

(Kindly refer to the detailed information of Report of the BOD presented in the attached Report).

MATTER 4: THE REPORT OF THE IC FOR 2024

(Kindly refer to the detailed information of Report of the IC presented in the attached Report).

MATTER 5: THE AUDITED 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited 2024 Financial Statements has been disclosed in accordance with regulations and is also
published on the Company's website at: www.vilico.vn, which includes the following items:

« Report of the Auditor;

s Balance sheet as of December 31, 2024;
* Statement of business results for 2024;
+ (Cash flow statement for 2024;

¢ Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements



VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street. Vinh Tuy Ward. Hai Ba Trung Diswrict, Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi
FPhone: 01243 862 1688; Website: www.vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, 12th revision dated November 16, 2023

Among them: Some key indicators of the financial statements are as follows

) Key indicators 2024 2023 Increase/ (decrease)
- (billion VND) actual actual compared to 2023

| Net Revenue 29573 3.152,0 -6,2%

2 | Profit before tax 138.2 3273 -57,8%

3 | Profit after tax 117,1 289.1 -59.5%

MATTER 6: THE AUDITED REPORT ON THE 2024 CAPITAL USAGE

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for the approval of the audited report on the use of capital
raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 shares in 2024 as follows:

As of 31/12/2024

No. Content
(VND)

; i 5
I The amount raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 562.036.132.000

common shares

I1 | Capital utilization 562.036.132.000

11 | The remaining amount at the end of the period (I-11) 0

The company's report on the use of funds has been published on the website at

https://www.vilico.vn/thong-tin-khac/.

MATTER 7: PROFIT DISTRIBUTION FOR 2024

Based on the business results for 2024 and the audited Financial Statements of the Company for 2024,
the BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval of the profit distribution for 2024 as follows:

e Retained profit at the beginning of the year : 364.3 billion VND

s Retained profit at the end of the year : 395.2 billion VND

All retained profits as of December 31, 2024, will be retained to strengthen the capital source for
business operations and investment in the Company's key projects. Retaining these profits is aimed at




VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Head Quarter; No. 519, Minh Khai Street, Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District. Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District. Hanoi
Phone: 0243 862 1688; Website: www.vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificare No. 01100104443, issued by the Hanai Department of Planning
and Invesiment, |2th revision dated November 16, 2023

ensuring that the company has sufficient financial resources to implement expansion plans, enhance
competitiveness, and optimize value for shareholders in the long term.

MATTER 8: THE REVENUE AND PROFIT GUIDANCE FOR 2025

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the Company’s consolidated revenue and
profit guidance for 2025 as follows:

No. Key indicators 2025 2024 % compared to the
(billion VND) Guidance Actual 2024 actual

Total revenue 3.3394 2.957,3 12,9%

2 | Profit before tax 124.7 138.2 -9,8%

3 | Profit afier tax 89,5 117,1 -23,5%

MATTER 9: THE SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR THE 2025 FISCAL
YEAR

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the list of independent auditor for the fiscal
year 2025 as follows:

» KPMG Vietnam LLC (KPMG);

e PwC Vietnam LLC (PwC);

« Emst & Young Vietnam LLC (E&Y);
» Deloitte Vietnam LLC (Deloitte).

The BOD is authorized to select an independent audit entity as one of four audit firms to conduct the
audit for the 2025 fiscal year.

MATTER 10: THE REMUNERATION FOR THE BOD AND IC FOR 2025

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the remuneration for the BOD and IC in 2025.
Specifically, as follows:

« Chairperson of BOD : 10,000,000 VND/month;
e Member of the BOD : 8,000,000 VND/month;
e Head of the IC : 8,000,000 VND/month;
+ Members ofthe IC 6,000,000 VND/month.



VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street, Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City

Contact Address: 14th Floor. Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi
Phone: (0243 862 1688; Website: www.vilico.vn

Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, 1 2th revision dated November 16, 2023

MATTER 11: THE ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOD FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Based on the Enterprise Law 2020 and the Company’s Charter, the BOD respectfully submits to the
AGM the election of members of the BOD for the 2025 — 2029 term.

The nomination and self-nomination of candidates procedures for the members of the BOD will be
conducted according to Notice No. 44TB-HDPQT/2025 dated March 23, 2025, regarding the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the BOD.

The list of candidates and related information will be published no later than April 13, 2025 (10 days
before the AGM) on the Company's website,

MATTER 12: THE ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF IC FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Based on the Enterprise Law 2020 and the Company’s Charter, the BOD respectfully submits to the
AGM the election of members of the IC for the 2025 — 2029 term.

The nomination and self-nomination of candidates procedures for the members of the IC will be
conducted according to Notice No. 45/TB-HPQT/2025 dated March 25, 2025, regarding the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the IC.

The list of candidates and related information will be published no later than April 13, 2025 (10 days
before the AGM) on the Company's website.

On behalf of the Board of Directors
Chairwoman

(signed and sealed)

MAI KIEU LIEN




VIETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
CORPORATION JSC Independence — Freedom - Happiness

Ha Noi, March 25, 2025

REPORT OF OPERATIONAL RESULTS
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2024
(Submit to the Annual Gereral Meeting of Shareholders in 2025)

The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (hereinafter referred to as
"Vilico", "VLC", or "the Company") would like to report to the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (FAGM™) on the activities of the Board of Directors (“BOD”) in 2024 with the
following contents:

|1-

The BOD’s Structure
In 2024, the members of the BOD are as follows:
- Mrs. Mai Kieu Lien: Chairwoman of the BOD,
- Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam: Member of the BOD (until April 23, 2024);
- Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh: Member of the BOD (from April 23, 2024);
- Mr. Le Thanh Liem: Member of the BOD;

Mr. Do Hoang Phuc: Member of the BOD;

Mr. Neuyen Hong Bach: Independent Member of BOD.

The BOD's Remuneration and Other Benefits
The remuneration of the BOD paid in 2024 has complied with the Resolution of the 2024
Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders. In this, Mrs. Mai Kieu Lien did not receive any
remuneration in 2024. The remuneration for the remaining members is as follows:
Mr. Le Thanh Liem: 8,000,000 VND/month;
Mr, Trinh Phuong Nam (until April 27, 2024): 8,000,000 VND/month;
- Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh {from April 27, 2024): 8,000.000 VND/month;
Mr. Do Hoang Phuc: 8,000,000 VND/month;
- Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach: 8,000,000 VND/month.
In 2024, the Company did not incur any other benefits for the BOD, except for travel

expenses for members of the BOD participating in BOD meetings and the AGM in
accordance with the Company's business trip policy.

Activities of the BGD

In accordance with the resolutions of the 2024 AGM, the BOD and each member of the
Board have carried out the Company's governance activities in compliance with their
functions, powers, and duties as outlined by the law and the Company's Charter.

»  Activities of the BOD in 2024 focused on the following areas:




4.1

- Approving the 2024 business plan of the Board of Managements for submission to the

AGM for approval and organizing the 2024 AGM,

- Overseeing the implementation of the 2024 business plan;
- Overseeing Vilico's investment activities in subsidiaries, affiliated com panies, and other

long-term investments; overseeing the consolidation of Financial Statements on a
quarterly, semi-annual, and annual basis;

- Developing and completing the governance system for operations management, financial

management, and risk management in line with the scale and model of the system,
ensuring the compliance and professionalism, and optimizing the Company's operational
activities;

- Effectively exploiting the land and real estate resources managed and used by Vilico:
- Approving transactions and matters within the BOD's authority.
% All activities of the BOD are carefully reviewed, in compliance with the Enterprise Law,

the Securities Law, and other current legal regulations, as well as the Company's Charter,
ensuring objectivity and transparency based on the rights, obligations, and
responsibilities prescribed by law, while respecting and protecting the legitimate rights
and interests of shareholders.

> In 2024, the BOD held 32 regular and extraordinary meetings, both in-person and online,
and issued 34 Resolutions/Decisions regarding matters related to the Company's business
operations. Information about these resolutions has been disclosed by the Company in its
Corporate Governance Report at: htips:/www.vilico.vn/wp-
content/uploads/2025/01/VI BaoCaoQuanTri_2024.pdf. The BOD meetings were
organized and conducted in accordance with the Company's Charter. The Minutes,
Resolutions. and Decisions of the Board of Directors are issued and stored in compliance

with regulations.

Report on the progress of the matters approved in the resolutions of previous Annual
General Meetings of Shareholders but not yet completed:

Report on the implementation of Article 12 of Resolution No. 01/2022/VLC/NQ-DHDCD
dated June 8, 2022: "Approval of additional capital contribution fo increase the charter
capital of Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. — a joint venture between the Company and
Sojitz Group (“JVL”) and approval of the transfer of the Tam Dao Project to JVL":

a) Regarding the increase in VLC's capital contribution to JVL:

e  The registration for the adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate for
the Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. (JVL) project has been completed,
adjusting the total investment amount from 46 billion VND to 2,900.3 billion VND
with 4 phases of capital contribution, and the capital contri bution will be
completed by June 30, 2024. The project has been granted the first adjustment of
the Investment Registration Certificate by the Hanoi Department of Planning and
Investment on September 26, 2022.
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b)

<)

The registration for the adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate for
the Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. (JVL) project has been completed,
adjusting the schedule for the third phase of capital contribution, specifically
changing the capital contribution deadline from "before December 31, 2023" to
"before March 31, 2024," with the capital contribution to be completed by June
30, 2024. The project has been granted the second adjustment of the Investment
Registration Certificate by the Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on
March 11, 2024;

VLC and Sojitz have also completed 04 phases of capital contribution, increasing
JVL's charter capital from 46 billion VND to 2,900.3 billion VND, as per the
fourth amendment to the Business Registration Certificate issued on July 26, 2024.
The adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate and the capital
contribution have been carried out in accordance with the investment and
enterprise law regulations.

Regarding the transfer of the Tam Dao Project:

On September 5, 2022, the parties signed a Framework Investment Agreement
regarding the investment and transfer of the project.

On September 24, 2024, the parties signed an Amendment to the Framework
Investment Agreement to include the transfer of the operation and management of
each item of the Factory and Farm Area to JVL until VLC completes all conditions
and procedures for the transfer, including: obtaining operating licenses and
registration of assets as construction works on land in the Land Use Rights
Certificate. Once this procedure is completed, the project will be eligible for
transfer, serving as the basis for seeking approval from the relevant State
management authorities for the transfer procedure. The above procedures are
expected to be carried out and completed within 18 months.

Regarding the progress of the Tam Dao Project:

For Area A (Meat Processing Factory):

e Construction volume: 100% completed.

« Installation of machinery and equipment; 100% completed.
e Legal procedures for obtaining operating licenses: 100% completed.
e Officially operational from December 17, 2024,

For Area B (Livestock Farm Area):

e Construction volume: 100% completed.

e Installation of machinery and equipment: 100% completed.
o Legal procedures for obtaining operating licenses: Ongoing.
¢ Expected to be officially operational from May 10, 2025.
Total contract value : 1,378 billion VND



4.2,

4.3.

- Total amount paid : 1,139 billion VND.

Report on the implementation of Article 13 of Resolution No. 01/2022/VLC/NQ-DHDCD

dated June 8, 2022: "Approval of the implementation of the Hung Yen Dairy Factory

Project":

- The project has completed important investment preparation procedures, such as being
granted the In-principle Approval Decision, 1/500 Planning, Environmental Impact
Assessment Report; signed the land lease contract for 50 years; and the feasibility study
report and basic design documents for Phase 1 — Sub-phase 1A have been appraised.

- Q2/2025: Complete submission for approval of Fire Protection for Phase 1 — Sub-phase
lA.

- Q3/2025: Complete construction permit issuance.

From Q4/2025: Start construction of the items in Phase 1 — Sub-phase 1A.
2025-2027: Complete construction of the items in Phase | —Sub-phase 1A.
2028: Put the entire Sub-phase 1A into operation.

Total contract value (as of February 2025): 76 billion VND

- Total amount paid (as of February 2025): 64 billion VND.

Note: Due to adjustments in strategic products, there have been some changes in the layout

design, technical aspects, and fire protection, along with changes in the organizational

structure and mergers of central agencies and ministries, which has led to a delay in the
project's timeline by | year.

Report on the implementation of Article 10 of Resolution No. 01/2023/VLC/NQ-DHDCD
dated April 27, 2023: " Plan for the listing and trading of VLC shares on the Ho Chi Minh
Stock Exchange (HOSE)"':

- Due to the general market conditions. some of the Company's financial indicators have
not yet met the requirements for listing on HOSE. The Company will continue to
complete the necessary documentation and will proceed with the listing as soon as it
meets the required conditions.,

Report on transactions between the Company and related parties

The transactions between the Company and its related parties have been presented and
disclosed in the Audited Financial Statements for 2024, on page 49, as follows:

- Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company

¢ Dividends distributed : 87.9 billion VND
Moe Chau Dairy Cattle Breeding Joint Stock Company ("Moc Chau Milk")
o Sale of goods and services : 0.8 billion VND
¢ Dividends distributed : 130.5 billion VND
- Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Litd.
¢ Capital contribution : 751.9 billion VND

* Advances received for project transfer : 786.9 billion VND
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6.2.

e Sale of goods and services : 1.6 billion VND
e Purchase of goods : 0.06 billion VND
- Vietnam Dairy Cow Co., Ltd.

¢ Purchase of goods, services. and materials : 0.08 billion VND
Peterhand Hanoi Livestock Development Co., Ltd.
e Dividends distributed : 1.8 billion VND

The BOD’s assessment of the Company's operational aspects

. Business results in 2024:

The business results in 2024 for the Company mainly came from interest income, capital

divestment, and dividends received from subsidiaries (Moc Chau Milk). In 2024, the

Company received 130.5 billion VND in dividends from Moc Chau Milk. The business

results in 2024 are as follows:

- Parent company: Net revenue reached 5.1 billion VND, 30.7% higher than in 2023. Net
profit after tax reached 145.7 billion VND, a decrease of 9.1% compared to 2023.

- Consolidated: Net revenue reached 2.957.3 billion VND, a decrease of 6.2% compared
to 2023, achieving 86.8% of the plan (3,408.9 billion VND). Net profit after tax reached
117.1 billion VND, a decrease of 59.5% compared to 2023, achieving 52.9% of the plan
(221.4 billion VND).

Results of the BOD's oversight of the Board of Managements

The BOD evaluates the performance and capabilities of the Board of Managements ("BOM")

based on the following criteria:

e Achievement of business operation objectives

» General duties of senior management, including:

(1) Responsibility of "Carefulness",

(2) Responsibility of "Honesty and avoiding conflicts of interest",
(3) Responsibility of "Confidentiality",

(4) Duty of "Care and loyalty."

The BOD comments that the BOM of the Company possesses sufficient experience and

knowledge relevant to their respective fields and responsibilities. They demonstrate a strong

sense of responsibility and good cooperation, and are fully capable of continuing the tasks
assigned by the AGM and the BOD.

The average salary of the General Director in 2024 was 54 million VND/month. The average

salary of employees was 19.5 million VND/person/month.

Results: According to the BOD’s assessment, the BOM made significant efforts and

performed well in fulfilling the business tasks assigned in 2024. This includes compliance

with current legal regulations, the Company's charter and operational regulations, as well as
improving and consolidating the organizational system, controls, and management.

Strategic direction of the BOD for the future



The strategic direction of the BOD for 2025 and the upcoming period is as follows:
Effectively operating the Beef processing plant complex in Tam Dao, Vinh Phuc.
Accelerating the progress of key projects to increase the efficiency of utilizing the
Company's current land plots and bringing value to the Company.

Seeking other investment opportunities to enhance the value for the Company and its

shareholders.
We respectfully submit for the General Meeting of Shareholders to consider and approve./.

ON BEHALF OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRWOMAN
(Signed and Sealed)

MAI KIEU LIEN




ETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

Independence — Freedom - Happiness

Ha Noi, March 25, 2025

REPORT OF OPERATIONAL RESULTS
OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE

(Submit to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2023)

In accordance with the functions and duties of the Inspection Committee ("IC") under the law, the
Company’s Charter, and the IC"s Operating Regulations, the IC hereby submits a report on its main
operations in 2024 as follows:

1. Operations of the IC
a) Performance of duties
- The IC attended all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in 2024. During these
meetings, the 1C discussed key issues and provided recommendations to the Board of
Managements to enhance the efficiency of corporate governance and management, risk

management and internal control, oversight of investment projects under

implementation, and the management of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and
affiliates.

- The IC has also strictly carried out the inspection and supervision of compliance with
regulations, General Meeting of Shareholders’ resolutions, legal provisions, and the
Company’s internal regulations in the management and operation of the Board of
Directors and the Board of Managements, specifically:

= Reviewing the legality and issuance procedures of the Board of Directors' resolutions
and the disclosure of information in accordance with the laws.

= Supervising and inspecting the implementation of the 2024 business targets set by
the General Meeting of Shareholders' resolution for the Board of Directors and the
Board of Managements.

= [Examining the reasonableness, accuracy, and prudence in the organization of
financial accounting, statistics, and financial reporting. Reviewing the annual and
semiannual financial reports audited and reviewed by KPMG Vietnam Co., Ltd., as
well as the Company’s quarterly reports (including separate and consolidated
reports).



= [n 2024, the IC has not recorded any violations regarding the responsibilites and
obligation of the manager of the company.

b) Salaries, remuneration, operating expenses, and other benefits of the Inspection
Committee in 2024

In 2024, the Company’s IC consisted of three members.

The remuneration of the IC paid in 2024 was in compliance with the resolution of the
2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, as detailed below:

= Ms Ha Thi Dieu Thu (Head of the IC), until April 23, 2024: 8.000.000 VND/month

= Mrs Tran Thai Thoai Tran (Head of the IC), from April 23, 2024: 8.000.000
VND/month

= Mr. Trinh Cong Son (member) : 6.000.000 VND/month
= Mr. Truong Anh Vu (member) : 6.000.000 VND/month

There were no additional benefits provided to the Inspection Committee in 2024.

2. Results of the supervision of the Board of Directors and the Board of Managements for
operations
a) The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has duly and fully fulfilled its management responsibilities in
strict compliance with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's
Charter, the Resolution of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders, and other
relevant regulations.

In 2024, the Board of Directors held quarterly meetings as required by law and the
Company's Charter. The Board of Directors operated actively and effectively, working
closely with the Board of Managements to establish strategic directions and promptly
address arising issues related to the Company's business operations, particularly
recommendations and proposals concerning corporate governance, management, project
implementation, and supervision.

The Board of Directors' resolutions were issued in accordance with its authority, ensuring
compliance with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's Charter,
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Resolutions, and other applicable
regulations.

b) Board of Managements

Excutive and managerial activities:

* Together with the Board of Managements, the General Director has fully and
promptly implemented the decisions and resolutions of the Board of Directors and
the General Mecting of Shareholders, effectively executing the Company’s business




plan. The General Director has proactively developed management and operational
plans, optimizing the Company’s organizational and management structure.

* The Board of Managements of the Company has organized meetings to discuss and
implement the business plans of the Company. its subsidiaries, and affiliated
companies. Additionally, it has provided directives, corrective action, and remedial
measures to address shortcomings in management and business operations, based on
recommendations and feedback from the Inspection Committee.

Risk management activities, particularly the risks related to the implementation of strategic
projects, have been closely monitored. The Board of Managements ensured timely updates
and reports to the Board of Directors and the Inspection Committee, along with appropriate
response plans,

Evaluation of the coordination between Inspection Committee, the Board of Directors, the
Board of Managements, Shareholders

In 2024, the IC received close and effective cooperation from the Board of Directors, the
General Director, and the Board of Managements. It was also provided with the necessary
conditions to fulfill its supervisory duties through full and timely access to relevant
documents and information concerning the company’s corporate governance, business
operations, and financial position

The IC has closely coordinated with the Board of Directors and the General Director in
regularly attending quarterly meetings to ensure timely measures are taken to address
existing issues, enhance management effectiveness, and ensure full compliance with
applicable legal regulations.

Audit of the 2024 Financial Statements

The IC has reviewed the semiannual and annual financial statements for 2024, which were
reviewed/audited by KPMG Limited Company Co. Ltd. and concurred with these reports.

According to the assessment conclusion of the 1C, the separate financial statements of Vilico
and the consolidated financial statements of Vilico and its subsidiaries present a true and fair
view, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting standards, the Vietnamese
corporate accounting standards, and relevant legal regulations on the preparation and
presentation of financial statements

Recommendations and Conelusion

a) Recommendations: The IC makes the following main recommendation:

- Continue to strengthen and continuously improve the organizational structure, as well as
refine internal management processes, regulations, and policies to enhance the efficiency

of the Company's management and business operations.



- Establish a risk management framework and a risk warning mechanism at the group
level; implement these across all levels of the Company and its subsidiaries to ensure
uniform and consistent application; maintain and improve the effectiveness of the two-
tier control mechanism (self-control & inspection), with a particular focus on

continuously enhancing the self-control mechanism

- Main projects and strategic initiatives should continue to strengthen risk management, be
closely monitored, and be promptly reported to the Board of Directors and the Inspector
Committee.

b) Conclusion

Through supervision and inspection, the IC acknowledges that the Company's activities in

2024 have complied with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's

Charter, relevant regulations, and have duly implemented the resolutions of the General

Meeting of Sharecholders and the resolutions of the Board of Directors.

We respectfully submit this report to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and
approval.

ON BEHALF OF INSPECTOR COMMITTEE
HEAD OF COMMITTEE

(Signed)

Trin Thai Thoai Trin




ETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
CORPORATION - JSC Independence — Freedom — Happiness
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No: 43/QC-HPQT/2025 Ha Nuoi City, March 23, 2025

REGULATION ON ORGANIZATION
OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
OF VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Pursuant to:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
(v)

Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14, passed by the National Assembly of the Socialist
Republic of Vietnam on June 17", 2020, effective from January 1¥, 2021; and other relevant
legislative documents;

Law No. 03/2022/QHI15 amending and supplementing a number of articles of the Law on
Public Investment, Law on Investment in the Form of Public-Private Partnership, Law on
Investment, Housing Law, Bidding Law, Electricity Law, Law on Enterprises, Law on Excise
Tax and the Law on Enforcement of Civil Judgments, passed by the National Assembly of the
Socialist Republic of Viemam on January 11", 2022, effective from March 1*, 2022;

Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QHI4, passed by the National Assembly of the Socialist
Republic of Vietnam on November 26", 2019, effective from January I*, 2021 and other
relevant legislative documents;

The current Charter of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Charter”); and

The current Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance of Vietnam Livestock Corporation
- JSC (“Regulation on Corporate Governance”).

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC is

organized and implemented in accordance with the Regulation on Organization of the 2025 Annual

General Meeting of Shareholders (referred to as the “Regulation™) as follows:

Tdng Céng tv Chin nudi Vit Nam - CTCP
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CHAPTERI
GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1. GOVERNING SCOPE AND APPLICABLE ENTITIES

This Regulation applies to the organization of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (“GMS”) of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Company” or “Vilico™) in
the form of the Online Meeting (as defined under Clause 8 of Article 2 below) and regulates the
Voting and Election by Shareholders by E-Voting (as defined under Clause 4 of Article 2 below)
at the Online Meeting.

This Regulation specifics the rights and obligations of Shareholders and parties attending the
Online Meeting; conditions and procedures for conducting the Online Meeting: voting method
to pass resolutions on matters falling within the power of the GMS and election of members of
the Board of Directors and the Inspection Committee.

Shareholders, their Representatives and attending parties shall be responsible for complying

with the provisions of this Regulation.

ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS

“Organizing Committee”: means the committee established to prepare and organize the Online
Meeting.

“Election”: means the exercise by Shareholders/Representatives of their rights to select one or
more candidates to be members of the Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as “BOD™)
and the Inspection Committee (hereinafter referred to as “I1C™).

“Voting”: means the exercise by Shareholders/Representatives of their rights to vote on specific
matters within the decision-making authority of the GMS.

“E-Voting™: means the Voting and Election conducted by Shareholders/Representatives
through the Online System.

“Representative™: means anyone legally appointed by a Shareholder in writing to attend the
Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting.

“Agenda”™ means the matters included in the agenda of the GMS for
Shareholders/Representatives to conduct the Voting and Election.

“Shareholder”; means the owner of Vilico’s share(s), whose name is included in the list of
shareholders entitled to attend the GMS as of the final registration date (i.c. March 11", 2025),
as provided by Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation.
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8.

11.

12.

“Online Meeting”: means the form of organizing the using electronic means to connect,
transmit audio and visual through the internet, allowing Sharcholders/Representatives from
different locations to attend, follow the meeting’s progress, discuss and vote on the matters of
the GMS and elect the members of the BOD and IC.

“Registration to Attend the Online Meeting”: means the process where
Shareholders/Representatives log into the Online System and perform shareholder verification
to attend the Online Meeting.

“Venue of the Online Meeting™: means the location (on site) where the Chairperson attends
and presides over the Online Meeting.

“Online System™: means the combination of technical infrastructure (including but not limited
to hardware devices, applications, software/website) set up and used by the Company to
organize the Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting. Shareholders/Representatives can access
the Online System to register to attend the Online Meeting, follow the meeting’s progress,
discuss and conduct the Voting and the Election via E-Voting.

“Opening Time of Online System™ means the starting time when
Shareholders/Representatives are allowed to access the Online System to register to attend
Online Meeting and conduct the Voting and Election via E-Voting. The Online System shall be
officially opened from 8:00 AM on April 21*, 2025 (Vietnam time).

CHAPTER 11
RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES ATTENDING
AT THE ONLINE MEETING

ARTICLE 3. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR
REPRESENTATIVES

1.

Shareholders/Representatives are entitled to attend the Online Meeting, conduct the Voting and
Election in accordance with the provisions of the Charter, this Regulation and instructions of
the Organizing Committee of the GMS.

Shareholders/Representatives are entitled to express their opinions and discuss at the GMS
through the Online System in accordance with Article 10 of this Regulation.

Shareholders are able to log in to the Online System, follow the GMS’s progress on electronic
devices (for example: computers, laptops, cellphones, ete.) and/or conduct E-Voting through

the Online System.
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In case the Shareholder authorizes a Representative to attend the Online Meeting and conduct
the E-Voting in accordance with the provisions of the applicable laws, the Charter and this
Regulation, upon receipt of a valid power of attorney, the Company shall grant the authorization
for such Representative to access the Online Meeting and attend the Online Meeting in the name
of aforesaid Shareholder.

If Shareholders have delegated authority to the Representative to attend and exercise
shareholder rights and obligations at the Online Meeting. that Shareholder can still log into the
Online System to follow the progress of the meeting and join the discussion session at the
Online Meeting, however, they cannot conduct the E-Voting. Shareholders are fully responsible
for the delegation of authority and the result of E-Voting on the Company’s Online System.

Shareholders/Representatives are responsible for keeping their personal information and other
identification information by the Company (such as authentication code, OTP code. etc.) in
strict confidence to ensure that only the Shareholders and/or Representatives can access the
Online System to attend, discuss, give opinions and conduct E-Voting using the Online System.

The Shareholders/Representatives shall comply with the provisions of the applicable laws, the
Charter, this Regulation and the Chairperson’s management during the Online Meeting and
respect the result of the Online Meeting. Shareholders/Representatives shall not cause any
disturbance or disorder during the Online Meeting.

ARTICLE 4. PRESIDING COMMITTEE

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors is the chairperson of the Online Meeting
(“Chairperson™) with the support from other members of the Board of Directors (at the request
of the Chairperson) to participate in conducting the Online Meeting (“Presiding Committee”™).

The members of the Presiding Committee follow the directions/instructions of the Chairperson
in dicussing issues related to the conduct of the Online Meeting. In any case, the Chairperson's
decision is the final decision.

The Presiding Committee supports the Chairperson in presiding over the Online Meeting in
accordance with the provisions of this Regulations and the Agenda approved by the GMS.

The Presiding Committee has the right to take necessary and reasonable measures to direct the
conduct of the Online Meeting in an orderly manner, correctly in accordance with the program

as passed, and so that it reflects the wishes of the majority of attendees.
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ARTICLE 5. THE SECRETARIAT

L.

The Chairperson shall appoint one or more persons to act as the Secretariat of the Online
Meeting (“Secretariat™). '

The Secretariat shall perform the following tasks:

a)

b)

d)

Receive and collect the opinions of Shareholders/Representatives during the Online
Meeting and submit them to the Presiding Committee.

Record thoroughly and accurately all proceedings of the Online Meeting and any matters
approved by the Shareholders/the Representatives or any matters that still require attention
at the Online Meeting;

Draft the meeting minutes and resolutions on the matters approved at the Online Meeting;

Perform such other tasks as may be assigned by the Chairperson in connection with the
Online Meeting.

ARTICLE 6: SHAREHOLDER ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION COMMITTEE

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee serves as the assistant to the Organizing
Committee of the GMS. The number and composition of the Shareholder Eligibility

Verification Committee are decided by the Organizing Committee.

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee is responsible for:

a)
b)

Reviewing powers of attorney provided by Shareholders to the Company:

Verifying the eligibility of Shareholders and Representatives attending the Online
Meeting in accordance with provisions of the applicable laws, the Charter and this

Regulation; and

The Head of the Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee reports to the GMS on
the number of Shareholders attending the Online Meeting and declares the opening of the
Online Meeting when the conditions for conducting the Online Meeting stipulated in
Clause 1 Article 9 of this Regulation are satisfied.

ARTICLE 7: VOTE COUNTING COMMITTEE

The Vote Counting Committee shall consist of three (03) persons comprising one (01) Head
and two (02) members, as proposed by the Chairperson and approved by Shareholders.

The Vote Counting Committee has the following rights and obligations:
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a)

b)

d)

Instructing Shareholders/Representatives on how to cast their votes and election at the
Online Meeting by E-Voting.

Counting the voting ballots and election ballots:
Preparing and announcing the minutes of vote counting before the GMS;

Being responsible for the honesty and accuracy of the vote-counting results.

CHAPTER III

ORDER AND PROCEDURES OF THE ONLINE MEETING AND CONDUCTING

THE E-VOTING

ARTICLE 8: REGISTRATION FOR ATTENDING THE ONLINE MEETING

Iy

Shareholders will conduct the registration for attending the Online Meeting in accordance with

specific instructions posted on the Company’s website at the address: https:/www.vilico.vn/

Delegation of authority to attend the Online Meeting:

a)

b)

c)

Shareholders may delegate all or part of their voting shares to any organizations or
individuals (“Representative(s)”) to attend the Online Meeting and/or conduct E-Voting
on their behalf.

The delegation of authority takes effect and is considered valid when it fully meets the
following conditions:

(i) Shareholders have not accessed and conducted Voting and/or Election on the Online
System of the Company.

(i) The delegation of authority must be made in writing (either using the template of
power of attorney provided by the Company or Shareholders’ own template), clearly
specifying the name of the individual/organization being delegated, the number of
shares being delegated. and must be signed and stamped (if applicable) by both the
delegating and the delegated parties.

(iii) The Company must receive the valid power of attomey no later than April 22,
2025. Power of attorney may be sent to the Company by email, or by post or
guaranteed delivery services.

Revocation of delegation of authority: if a Shareholder wishes to revoke their valid

delegation of authority, the Shareholder must send a written notice of such revocation to

the Company (delivered in person, sent by email, by post or guaranteed delivery services)
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no later than April 22™, 2025. The revocation will take effect from the time the Company
receives the valid written notice from the Shareholders.

Shareholders/Representatives shall access the link provided by the Company to verify their
identity as sharcholders, attend the Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting.

ARTICLE 9. VERIFICATION OF SHAREHOLDERS’ ELIGIBILITY AND CONDITIONS
FOR CONDUCTING THE ONLINE MEETING

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee bases on:

(1) the number of Shareholders/Representatives who have conducted E-Voting on the Online
System from the Opening Time of Online System until the expected opening time of the
meeting (1:30 PM on April 23", 2025); and

(2) the number of Shareholders/Representatives who succesfully logged into the Online
System to register their attendance at the Online Meeting from 12:00 PM to 1:30 PM on
April 237, 2025.

to determine the total number of Shareholders/Representatives attending the Online Meeting at
the opening time of the meeting, thereby determining the total number of shares represented by
such Shareholders/Representatives in order to determine the condition for opening and
conducting the Online Meeting in accordance with Clause 3 Article 9 of this Regulation.

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee reports to the GMS on the total number of
Shareholders/Representatives attending the Online Meeting, the total number of shares
represented by such Shareholders/Representatives and the attendance rate at the opening time
in order to confirm that the condition for opening the meeting is fully met.

The Online Meeting will be held when the number of Shareholders/Representatives attending
the Online Meeting represents at least 50% of the total number of voting shares of the Company
(pursuant to the list of Shareholders as of the final registration date, i.e. March 1™, 2025,
provided by the Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation).

ARTICLE 10. DISCUSSION AND QUERIES AT THE ONLINE MEETING

Shareholders/Representatives shall conduct discussion following the instruction of the

Chairperson during the Online Meeting.

Sharcholders/Representatives can discuss at the Online Meeting by directly speaking or
submitting questions/opinions to the Presiding Committee through the Online System. The
Secretariat is responsible for collecting and summarizing the questions and opinions of
Shareholders/Representatives and forwarding them to the Presiding Committee.
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The discussion with Shareholders/Representatives and the question-and-answer session is
conducted in accordance with the principles and methods as follows:

a)  Chairperson will base on the meeting schedule to arrange and manage the speech of
Shareholders/Representatives.

b)  Shareholders/Representatives should speak clearly and focus on the approved Agenda.
The Chairperson has the authority to remove question of Shareholders/Representatives
from the discussion session and/or stop the speech of Shareholders/Representatives if he
deems the comments or questions to be repetitive and/or not related to the Agenda.

¢) In case the discussion exceeds the meeting schedule, unanswered questions will be
recorded by the Secretariat and the Presiding Committee may answer them later by email
or other appropriate forms in accordance with the provisions of the Charter and applicable

laws.

ARTICLE 11. VOTING TO APPROVE THE MATTERS OF THE ONLINE MEETING

Shareholders/Representatives shall exercise the voting right at the Online Meeting by E-Voting
in accordance with the provisions of this Regulation.

Sharcholders/Representatives shall exercise their voting right on the Online System set up by
the Company.

Time of Voting:
Sharcholders/Representatives can conduct the E-Voting at any of the following times:

(i) from the Opening Time of Online System and before the opening time of the Online
Meeting; and/or

(ii) Voting directly at the Online Meeting (from the opening time and follow the proceeding
of the Online Meeting).

Shareholders/Representatives who have conducted the E-Voting can change their voting
opinion, but this change must be made before the closing of the E-Voting session. From the
closing of the E-Voting, the voting session on the Online System will be closed, and
Shareholders/Representatives shall not have the right to change their votes. The Company will
record the final voting result of Shareholders/Representatives on the Online System.

a)  The time for voting on issues under the Agenda of the Online Meeting will be announced
by the Chairperson. Shareholders/Representatives must ensure to cast their votes before
the end of the voting period.
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b)

Shareholders or Representatives who attend the Online Meeting after the opening of the
meeting still have the right to participate in voting. In such cases, the validity of any item
which was previously voted on will not be affected.

Implementation of Voting:

a)

b)

After successfully accessing the Online System, Shareholders/Representatives can vote
on items of the Agenda by E-Voting.

Shareholders/Representatives cast their votes by marking one (01) of three (03)
corresponding boxes “Approve”, “Disapprove”, “Abstain™ for each item of the Agenda
to be voted on.

The voting results will only be counted when Shareholders/Representatives have
completed voting on all items of the Agenda and submitted the voting results through the
Online System.

Shareholders/Representatives encountering any problems with E-Voting on the Online
System may contact the hotline number as notified by the Organizing Committee for
guidance and support in completing the voting process.

Result of vote counting

a)

b)

d)

The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for checking the results of E-Voting to
record the voting results of all Shareholders/Representatives attending and voting at the
Online Meeting.

Voting results will be determined for each item of the Agenda and calculated as a
percentage (%) rounded to two (02) decimal places.

The voting results will be recorded in the Minutes of vote counting and announced
immediately by the Vote Counting Committee during the Online Meeting. The Minutes
of vote counting will be signed by the members of the Vote Counting Committee to
confirm its accuracy, clarity and compliance with the principles and order of vote
counting.

The Minutes of vote counting must clearly specify the following contents:

— The total number of shares with voting rights of all Shareholders who attended and
casted their votes at the Online Meeting;

— Total number of shares that voted “Approve”, “Disapprove” and “Abstain” for each
voting item and the corresponding percentage (%) of the total number of shares of all
Shareholders who attended and casted their votes at the Online Meeting; and

— Issues which have been approved by the GMS.
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ARTICLE 12. ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
INSPECTION COMMITTEE

1.  Rules for electing members of the BOD/IC:

a)  The election of members of the Board of Directors shall be conducted by the method of
cumulative voting, whereby each Shareholder has a total number of votes equivalent to
the total number of voting shares multiplied by the total number of members to be elected
to the Board of Directors (Note: At the 2025 GMS of the Company, the total number of
BOD members to be elected is five (05) members, the total number of IC members to be
elected is three (03) members).

For example: Shareholder named as Mr. Nguyen Van A has 10,000 voting shares. The
total number of votes of Mr. Nguyen Van A is 50,000 votes for BOD members” Election
and 30,000 votes for IC members’ Election.

b)  Shareholders/Representatives will conduct the election of members of the BOD/IC
through the Online System by E-Voting.

Shareholder/Representatives may (1) give all of their total votes to a particular candidate;
or (2) distribute their votes to the selected candidates with each specific number of votes:
or (3) distribute evenly to selected candidates. Shareholder/Representatives may also
distribute a portion of their total votes to one or several candidates, the remaining votes
may not vote for any other candidates. The Shareholder/Representatives shall distribute
their votes to the candidates in accordance with the instructions described on the Online
System and/or by the Head of the Vote Counting Committee.

2. Rules for determining the election results: The Organizing Committee of the GMS will rely on
the number of votes calculated from the highest to the lowest to determine the candidates elected
to the BOD/IC. This process will start from the candidate with the highest number of votes and
continue until the required number of members of the BOD/IC are elected and must ensure to
meet the minimum number of the independent members of the BOD in accordance with
applicable laws and the Charter. A candidate elected to the BOD/IC must have at least one (01)

volte.

In particular, Independent candidate will be selected first (calculated according to the number
of votes from the highest to the lowest separately for independent candidate). After reaching
the minimum number of independent members as prescribed (at least 1 person), the selection
of the remaining members of the BOD will be determined according to the rules mentioned

above.
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In the event that there are two (02) or more candidates with the same number of votes for the
last position of the BOD:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

If those candidates are also Shareholders, the candidate holding more shares will be

given priority for the selection.

If the candidates are not Shareholders, the candidate with a higher number of terms as a
member of the BOD will be given priority for the selection. In case of equal terms, the
candidate with more years of BOD members will be selected.

In the event that a candidate cannot be selected based on the criteria (i) and (ii)
mentioned above, the GMS will conduct a re-Election for the candidates with an equal
number of votes to select the candidate with the highest number of votes to become the
final member of the BOD.

In the event that there are two (02) or more candidates with the same number of votes for the

last position of the IC:

(1)

(i)

The candidate with a higher number of terms as a member of the 1C will be given priority
for the selection. In case of equal terms, the candidate with more years of IC members
will be selected.

In the event that a candidate cannot be selected based on the criteria (i) and (ii)
mentioned above, the GMS will conduct a re-Election for the candidates with an equal
number of votes to select the candidate with the highest number of votes to become the
final member of the IC.

Election time:

Shareholders/Shareholders' Representatives can conduct the election:

(i)

(ii)

from the Opening Time of Online System and before the opening time of the Online

Meeting; or

directly at the Online Meeting (from the opening time until the closing of the election
session as announced by the Chairperson).

Counting and announing election results:

a)

The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for counting the election results and
preparting the Minutes of vote counting. The minutes of vote counting shall be signed by
the members of the Vote Counting Committee to confirm the accuracy, transparency and

compliance with the principles and order of vote counting.

The Minutes of vote counting must have the following contents:

—  Name and number of votes received for each candidate.
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~ Information about the newly elected member of the BOD and IC.

b) The Head of the Vote Counting Committee shall, on behalf of the Chairperson, announce
the election results at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

ARTICLE 13. PASSING RESOLUTIONS OF THE GMS

Resolutions of the GMS on Agenda issues presented at the Online Meeting shall be passed in
accordance with the specific percentage as specified in the Article 21 of the Charter.

ARTICLE 14. MINUTES OF MEETING

1. All contents at the Online Meeting shall be recorded by the Secretariat in the Minutes of

meeting.

2. The Minutes of meeting of the GMS must be announced to and approved by the GMS before
the closing of the GMS.

CHAPTER IV
IMPLEMENTATION

ARTICLE 15. IMPLEMENTATION TERM

This Regulation shall take effect upon the date of signing by the Chairperson and shall be applied at
the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation-JSC held on
April 23', 2025.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Signed and Sealed)

MAIKIEU LIEN

Chairwoman
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TNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
ORPORATION - JSC Independence — Freedom — Happiness

No.: 44/TB-HDQT/2025 Hanoi, March 235, 2025

NOTICE
Re: Nomination and Self-Nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the
Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC for the 2025-2029 term

Respectfully to: RESPECTED SHAREHOLDERS

The 2020-2024 term of the Board of Directors (“BOD™) of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — JSC (“the Company™) is coming to the end. In order to have candidates to be
elected at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (“AGM™) for the next term (i.e.
2025-2029), the Company would like to inform our respected shareholders about the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to the BOD for the 2025-2029 term as follows:

1. CONDITIONS FOR NOMINATION/SELF-NOMINATION
1.1. Individual shareholder holding at least five percent (5%) of the total number of voting

shares of the Company (as of the date of closing the list of shareholders entitled to
attend the General Meeting of Shareholders on March 11", 2025) and meeting all
criteria and conditions for becoming members of the BOD as stipulated in Item 2.2
below, have the right to nominate himself’/herself to be elected as a member of BOD.

1.2. A shareholder or a group of shareholders (as of the date of closing the list of
shareholders entitled to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders on March 11%,
2025 ) owning from:

- Five percent (5%) to less than ten percent (10%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate one (01) candidate to be
elected as a member of the BOD;

- Ten percent (10%) to less than thirty percent (30%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of two (02)
candidates for election to the BOD;

- Thirty percent (30%) to less than forty percent (40%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of three
(03) candidates for election to the BOD;

- Forty percent (40%) to less than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of four (04)
candidates for election to the BOD:



2.1

22.

- Fifty percent (50%) to less than sixty percent (60%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of five (05)
candidates for election to the BOD:

- Sixty percent (60%) to less than seventy percent (70%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of six (06)
candidates for election to the BOD;

- Seventy percent (70%) to less than eighty percent (80%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of seven
(07) candidates for election to the BOD;

- Eighty percent (80%) to less than ninety percent (90%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of eight
(08) candidates for election to the BOD:

- Ninety percent (90%) or more of the total voting shares of the Company have the
right to nominate a maximum of nine (09) candidates for election to the BOD.

THE NUMBER OF MEMBERS OF THE BOD FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM,
CRITERIA AND CONDITIONS OF MEMBERS OF THE BOD

Number of members of the BOD for the 2025-2029 term

The number of members of the BOD for the 2025-2029 term is five (05) members, in
which the total number of independent members of the BOD is at least one (01)
member.

Criteria and conditions of members of the BOD

Candidates nominated by shareholder(s) to the BOD for the 2022-2026 term must
meet all criteria and conditions as stipulated in Article 155 of the Law on Enterprise
and Article 8 of the Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance of the Company.

NOMINATION/SELF-NOMINATION DOCUMENTS

The nomination/self-nomination documents include:

1) Nomination application form/Self-nomination application form (Form 01_BOD)";
2) Curriculum Vitae of the candidate (Form 02_BOD);

3) A copy of ID card/CCCD/Passport and diplomas/certificates of educational
qualification of the candidate;

4) Information of positions currently held by the candidate or nominated in other
organizations; declaration of his/her interests and related interests with the
Company (Form 03_BOD);

! Please kindly choose one (01) of three (03) forms including Form 1A_BOD/From 1B_BOD/From 1C_BOD as

appropriate for each specific case
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5) Declaration of information demonstrating the independence of the candidate
(applied for candidates to the position of independent numbder) (Form 04_BOD):

6) The letter of undertaking made by candidate(s) shows his/her commitment to
perform his/her duties honestly, faithfully, prudently and in the best interest of the
Company if such candidate(s) is/are selected as member(s) of the BOD.

Note: The aforementions forms are attached to this notice and published on the

Company's website at https://www.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong/

4. DEADLINE AND ADDRESS FOR SENDING NOMINATION/SELF-
NOMINATION DOCUMENTS

Documents of the nomination/self-nomination must be sent to and received by the
Company no later than 16:00 on April 12, 2025 (Vietnam time).

Recipient: Board of Directors - Vietnam Livestock Corporation —JSC

Address: 14" Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma Street, Ngoc
Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi City, Vietnam

Email: VilicoAGM(@vilico.vn

The documents must be clearly stated: "Neomination/Self-nomination documents for
member of the Board of Directors."

Note: Only the nominationw'self-nomination documents that meet all conditions
specified in this Notice will be considered valid. Shareholder/Group of shareholders
groups making nomination/self-nomination for members of the BOD and the
candidates are responsible before the applicable law and the General Meeting of

Shareholders for the truthfulness and accuracy of the information provided in the

documents.

The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC would like to inform
and invite the Shareholders to conduct nomination/self-nomination in accordance with this
notice.

VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
OF BEHALF OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Signed and Sealed)

MAI KIEU LIEN

Chairwoman



: Application Form for Nomination of members of the Board of Directors (application
gr a single shareholder)

APPLICATION FORM FOR NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Respectfully to: Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC

being a shareholder of Vietnam Livestock Corporatmn JSC ( Vilico’ )
Enterprise registration certificate/ID card/Passport No.: ..

ISSUE ON: eoeeeeecceeerennsasneenennneennnsee DY cosssssssnssnsinnssssnssssssanans

AATESS: .ovirinisnissnssnnssnsennsssssansrasnsnssninsnnostosarsionsonitsnsssnsisnsanassss st sassanasasesnasisnssssns sasasaisnisnsionsissobisessasssabises
- e LI RNSELPII - o PR e e e Sy =T PEUTRP LR s
The number of voting shares owned at Vilico is
number of voting shares of Vilico.

After reviewing the criteria and conditions for becoming members of the Board of Directors as
stipulated under the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate
Governance of the Company, | would like to nominate the following person(s) for the position of
member(s) of the Board of Directors for the 2025-2029 term:

lo BB i e
Date of birth: .
ID CardfPassport NG s BONEAION: coiuviovivise DV iinmeaiiminnammavesss
2. Full Name: o
Date of birth: .
ID Card!Passport MBS s e T LT OSSR - . SRR ————
Address: ...
3. Full Name:
Date of birth: .
ID CardfPassport N st iammed OnG o Blaisasmiisossssierion
T B P T e POTT o ) s PrENURIS i Re B St SIS



| attach herein the Curriculum vitae of the candidate and other documents enclosed.
| hereby take full responsibility for this nomination and commit to strictly comply with the applicable
law and the Charter of Vilico.

Best Regards.

(Signature and stamp (if any))
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APPLICATION FORM FOR NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Respecifully to: Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC

We are shareholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC (“Company” or “Vilico™), hereby

mutually agree to form a group of shareholders with detailed information as follows:

TONG zj.ﬁv.'
CHAN NUOI VI

CTCP

Number of Enterprise Number of .
. " . Ownership
No. | Name of shareholder | Registration Certificate/ID | Shares Owned .
ratio (%)
card/Passport (shares)
1. T e T T % /.
| e | w00 | cessewese | s %[/ =
Bl osaam T iree— .
4, T T (e, % -
TOTAL = | ceveresssm Gt A0

>
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After reviewing the criteria and conditions for becoming members of the Board of Directors

as

stipulated under the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate

Governance of the Company, we would like to jointly nominate the following person(s) for the

position(s) of member(s) of the Board of Directors for the 2025-2029 term:

L. FRELBIEINET oo smsssnsm s U R AN AR Ry TR s ravssr an s ases oes
5T RT3 oD WS SRUURSTNUR VSRR P St
ID Card/Passport NO.: ....covvreinnnn issued on: ...vininnnn A
Address: .

2. Full Name: ...........
Date of BITRT ....oerernmserisssassssssssessismraoss
ID Card/Passport No.: c..ovvvvennnnns issued On: ....c.uiivins B csuisuiasssvssisisssossivinss
Address: cineanniniaaaien

3. Full Hame: o

BDiate of Births oovasnainmmniiissmsssm s



ID Card/Passport No.: .............. T T R | D S
ARIBNSS sonnssioomsmmme

We attach herein the Curriculum vitae of the candidate and other documents enclosed.
Best Regards.

et e e venny OCUC crieininninnn 2025

CONFIRMATION OF THE GROUP OF SHAREHOLDERS NOMINATING

No. Signature of the shareholder being

Shareholders individual/ Signature of authorized

representative and stamp (if any) of the
shareholder being

organization
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BOD: Application Form for Self-Nomination

APPLICATION FORM FOR SELF-NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION —-JSC
FOR THE 2025 - 2029 TERM

Respectfully to: Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC

VI MBIV TISE i cosumeiociimssm i s st im0 i S i .

being a shareholder of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC (*Vilico™).

Enterprise registration certificate/ID card/Passport No.: ..

ISSUC ON: wvevereiirensrisessesnscsssneneans BY e e

AUGIBRRT ..o s remsmemsesmnassasmam e e A TS S A RV NSRS A AR

| - ¢ O P R e PRI P e S S NP R N e e g e TP A

The number of voting shares owned at Vilico is ..................... shares, representingu............%
of the total number of voting shares of Vilico.

After reviewing the criteria and requirements for becoming the members of the Board of Directors as
stipulated under the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate
Governance of the Company, 1 would like to nominate myself as a candidate for the position of
member of the Board of Directors of the Company for the 2025-2029 term.

In case of being elected by the Shareholders as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company for
the 2025-2029 term, | undertake to use all my abilities and enthusiasm to contribute to the development
of the Company, and to perform duties honestly, faithfully, prudently and in the best interest of the
Company and always strictly comply with the applicable laws and the Charter of the Company.

I attach herein my curriculum vitae and other documents enclosed.
Best Regards.

.............. dated....................2023
(Signature and full name)



BOD: Curriculum vitae of the candidate

CURRICULUM VITAE
OF THE CANDIDATE TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

L Backeround information

o S ST LT o L= e

o PEEOEbBitth: . ... .o T R R S R
LS 2 P ToT= oY il 411 4 {1 LU
o RIS o R T N R R e R R SR A
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o ID Card/Passport No: .........c.cuveees issued on

------------------

o BHHCID: oot s s et s e s VA SRR

B IOTBLOMNINE .o coviwo meon i s i o g o b B it e s e s R AR
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o  Contact aldEesS 1 s riiri iy s s e e A S s s

o Current position: .........ccceunnee

o Contacts ..o

o Email:

o Educational level: ......oovveennnne

2 Educati | Traini

....................

at Organization: ..................

Photo
(4x6, taken within
the last 06 months)

.............

-----

Year

Schools/Training centers

Degrees

3.Professional experiences




Year Position

Name of organization

o Reward, discipline (if any) :

4._Related persons

(Declaring members in the candidate’s family: Biological parents, adoptive parents, spouses,

biological siblings, biological and adopted children).

No. Full name Relationship | Date of
birth

ID/Passport
No.

Occupation/
Position

Workplace

_:§ﬁN§
U0 VIET
CICP |




| hereby undertake that the aforementioned declaration is fully truthful and accurate. In case of any
untruthful information, I will be liable before laws.

, 2025

Nominee
(Signature, full name)




Letter of declaring information about positions which the candidate is currently
eing nominated for at other ogranizations, declaring the interests and the beneficial relationships

VI TR RN B v ci aiainisd i Sadindh s e S S S S SRS e R S e e
ID card/Passport No:........c.c.cinveeue. Dated:! .....ccuviaieen. BY! ciccinnniaininne

To provide adequate information for the purpose of completing the profile of the candidate for the
position of members of the Board of Directors and to enhance the transparency of information for
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC ("Vilico™) and all shareholders of Vilico, I hereby declare
relevant information to my profile as follows:

1. Positions which the candidate is currently holding in other organizations (if YES, please fill
in the blanks below, if not applicable, please state "NQ"):

No.| Name of organization Position Date of beginning Note
to hold such
position
1
2
3
4
5
6

2,
No.| Name of organization Position Date of Note
nomination
1
2
3
4




3. Declare of interests
(if YES, please fill in the blank below, if not applicable, please state "NO"):

Declaring companies in which the candidate own a capital contribution portion or shares:

No. Name of company Percentage (%) of shares Note
owned / capital contribution
portion

1
2
3
4
5

I

——

6 -
ONG
1 VIET
Declaring companies in which the Related Persons' of the candidate are owners of a capital oP
contribution portion or shares of more than ten percent (10%) of charter capital of such companies. ;-“-64
===
No. Name of company Percentage (%) of shares Note
owned / capital contribution
portion

1
2
3
4
5
6

| Related Persons are defined under Clause 23 of Article 4 of the Law on Enterprises and Clause 46 of Article 4 of the
Law on Securities.



4. E I |- [ I I- I. .Il 1:-1-

No Relationship Vi No Details of relationship

(In case the column “Yes" is ticked, this
column used to describe in detail the
relationships with Vilico and the candidate
needs to attach relevant documents)

1 | Employee relations with (Information about relationship, time)

Viiico ----------------------------------------------------

2 | Auditing, consulting
relations with Vilico | | [ e

3 Ownership rc]ations ------------------------------------------------------
(shareholder’s
Vilico)

......................................................

4 | Economic relations

...................................................

4-1 Se!!i”grefafio}‘i‘? ------------------------------------------------------
Sapptiery @0 9| 00 | | sesssevmesmasimmessssayiss T

......................................................

4.2 | Purchasing relations
(Customer)

......................................................

4.3 | Partmership

.......................................................

5 | Other relations

.......................................................

I hereby undertake that the aforementioned declaration is fully truthful and accurate. In case of
any untruthful information, I shall be liable before laws.

, 2025

Nominee
(Signature, full name)



: Declaration of information demonstrating the independence of candidate to the
ependent member of the Board of Directors

In order to provide complete information of the candidate for the position of independent member of
the Board of Directors and to ensure the transparency of information for Vietnam Livestock Corporation
—JSC (*Vilico™) and all the shareholders of Vilico, | would like to provide information to demonstrate
my independence as follows:

No. Information Yes No Note
1 | Currently working for Vilico, the parent

company or any subsidiary

company of Vilico

2 | Having worked for Vilico, the parent

company or any subsidiary

company of Vilico for at least the three

(03) preceding years ==
01044

3 | Currently entitled to salary or remuneration *-.“\“
from Vilico, /—
°f TONG CON

except for allowances which members of the

Board of Directors are entitled to in CHAN NI VIS
accordance with regulations CTCP

4 | Havi . natural or adopti arent, O
aving spouse, natu r ptive pare O —

child, adopted child or sibling is

a major shareholder of Vilico

5 | Having spouse, natural or adoptive parent,
child, adopted child or sibling is

a Manager (*) of Vilico or a Manager of any
subsidiary company of Vilico.

(*) Manager includes members of the Board
of Directors, the General Director

and the Deputy General Directors.

6 | Directly or indirectly owning at least one
per cent (1%) of the total voting shares in
Vilico.

7 | Being a person who was a member of the
Board of Directors of Vilico for at least five
(05) preceding years (this condition shall not
apply to candidates who were independent
members of the Board of Directors in the
immediately preceding term).

8 | Working in any organization providing legal
services or auditing services to

Vilico for two (02) preceding years.




9 | Being a partner or a Related Person of any
partner who entered into a transaction with
Vilico at the value of thirty per cent (30%)
or more of the total revenue or the total value
of goods or services purchased by the
Company for two (02) preceding years.

(*) Related Person is determined under
Clause 23 of Article 4 of the Law on
Enterprises and Clause 46 of Article 4 of
the Law on Securities.

10 | Being a member of the immediate family of
an individual who is currently or has been a
Manager of Vilico for the five (03)
preceding years; or is currently a member of
the immediate family of Related

Person(s) of Vilico.

11 | Being an executive officer of another
company in which any of the Managers of
Vilico is currently working as a member

of the Board of Directors of that company.
12 | Having any connection with a non-profit
organization which receives significant
funding from Vilico or from its Related
Person.

| hereby confirm the accuracy and truthfulness of my declaration and shall be liable before laws in case
of any untruthful declaration.

...... S OB oiioniiiinnsa 2025
[Full name and signature|



IETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
ORPORATION - JSC Independence — Freedom — Happiness

No.: 45/TB-HDQT/2025 Hanoi, March 235, 2025

NOTICE

Re: Nomination and Self-Nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the
Inspection Committee of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC for the 2025-2029 term

Respectfully to: RESPECTED SHAREHOLDERS

The 2020-2024 term of the Inspection Committee (“IC”) of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — JSC (“the Company™) is coming to the end. In order to have candidates to be
elected at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (*AGM”) for the next term (i.e.
2025-2029), the Company would like to inform our respected shareholders about the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to the IC for the 2025-2029 term as follows:

L. CONDITIONS FOR NOMINATION/SELF-NOMINATION

1.1. Individual shareholder holding at least five percent (5%) of the total number of voting

shares of the Company (as of the date of closing the list of shareholders entitled to
attend the General Meeting of Shareholders on March 11%, 2025) and meeting all
criteria and conditions for becoming members of the IC as stipulated in Item 2.2
below, have the right to nominate himself/herself to be elected as a member of IC.

1.2. A shareholder or a group of shareholders (as of the date of closing the list of
shareholders entitled to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders on March 1 1%
2025 ) owning from:

- Five percent (5%) to less than ten percent (10%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of one (01)
candidate to be elected as a member of the IC;

- Ten percent (10%) to less than thirty percent (30%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of two (02)
candidates for election to the 1C;

- Thirty percent (30%) to less than forty percent (40%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of three
(03) candidates for election to the IC;




- Forty percent (40%) to less than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of four (04)
candidates for election to the IC;

- Fifty percent (50%) to less than sixty percent (60%) of the total number of voting
shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of five (05)
candidates for election to the IC;

- Sixty percent (60%) to less than seventy percent (70%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of six (06)
candidates for election to the IC:

- Seventy percent (70%) to less than eighty percent (80%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of seven
(07) candidates for election to the IC:

- Eighty percent (80%) to less than ninety percent (90%) of the total number of
voting shares of the Company have the right to nominate a maximum of eight
(08) candidates for election to the IC;

- Ninety percent (90%) or more of the total number of voting shares of the
Company have the right to nominate a maximum of nine (09) candidates for

election to the IC.

THE NUMBER OF MEMBERS OF THE IC FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM,
CRITERIA AND CONDITIONS OF MEMBERS OF THE IC

Number of members of the 1C for the 2025-2029 term
The number of members of the IC for the 2025-2029 term is three (03) members.
Criteria and conditions of members of the IC

Candidates nominated by shareholder(s) to the IC for the 2022-2026 term must meet
all criteria and conditions as stipulated in Article 169 of the Law on Enterprise, Clause
2 Article 37 of the Charter and Item 2.b Article 4 of the Internal Regulation on
Corporate Governance of the Company.

NOMINATION/SELF-NOMINATION DOCUMENTS

The nomination/self-nomination documents include:

1) Nomination application form/Self-nomination application form (Form 01_IC)';
2) Curriculum Vitae of the candidate (Form 02_IC);

3) A copy of ID card/CCCD/Passport and diplomas/certificates of educational
qualification of the candidate;

! Please kindly chaose one (01) of three (03) forms including Form 1A_IC/From 1B_IC/From 1C_IC as
appropriate for each specific case

(§9 ]

/3

ONG
VIET

\*;i"

&




4) A declaration of information of the candidate (Form 03_IC);

5) The letter of undertaking made by candidate(s) shows his/her commitment to
perform his/her duties honestly, faithfully, prudently and in the best interest of the
Company if such candidate(s) is/are selected as member(s) of the IC.

Note: The aforementions forms are attached to this notice and published on the

Company s website at https:/www.vilico.vn/dai-hoi-co-dong

4. DEADLINE AND ADDRESS FOR SENDING NOMINATION/SELF-
NOMINATION DOCUMENTS

Documents of the nomination/self-nomination must be sent to and received by the
Company no later than 16:00 on April 12™, 2025 (Vietnam time).

Recipient: Board of Directors - Vietnam Livestock Corporation —JSC

Address: 14" Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building, 521 Kim Ma Street, Ngoc
Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi City, Vietnam

Email: VilicoAGM(@vilico.vn

The documents must be clearly stated: "Nomination/Self-nomination documents for
member of the Inspection Committee."”

Note: Only the nomination/self-nomination documents that meet all conditions
specified in this Notice will be considered valid. Shareholder/Group of shareholders
groups making nomination/self-nomination for members of the IC and the candidates

are responsible before the applicable law and the General Meeting of Shareholders
for the truthfulness and accuracy of the information provided in the documents.

The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC would like to inform
and invite the Shareholders to conduct nomination/self-nomination in accordance with this
notice.

VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
OF BEHALF OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Signed and Sealed)

MAI KIEU LIEN

Chairwoman



APPLICATION FORM FOR NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE OF
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC FOR THE 2025 - 2029 TERM

Respectfully to: the Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC

DAVTIMIBAN? oo smmnnvimmmmsmmnmsmom s s R e o 4 A B A P A S R S A s S s et
being a shareholder of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - ISC (*Vilico™).

Enterprise Registration Certificate/ID Card/Passport NO.i......ioieiiriinieireriiierneenieaena s
Issued Oni..uieeeieieeeeiiienraeienaeas B L s i s ma s R R A A R T R A T S A
BIRIOPRET: - ... o e omm e s i b p SR A AR S ST R R s
1 e e SR e S e BIEL s hsnhdiis e e i R R S R R e ke
The number of voting share owned at Vilico is .......cccooennnnns shares, representing ......... % ofil=

the total number of voting shares of Vilico.

After reviewing the criteria and conditions for becoming members of the Inspection Committee as
stipulated under the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate
Governance of the Company, | would like to nominate the following person(s) for the position(s) of
member(s) of the Inspection Committee for the 2025-2029 term:

1. Full Name: ...

Date of birth? ...c...c.cccuns
ID Card/Passport No.: .....c..c.ueee. T L (55 TS
AQAIESS: viiivmsiiasiicindionss

2 PuliNemBe: osnannaaiding
Botnob BRI (owmiiinmiimmaaitn
ID Card/Passport No.: ...cvvvvnnnnnnn. issued ON: .ooiiaivenees DY
IR oocsounamsmesryimssartobin

R G RO e —

DateEoT Bitth® .oovsuamanims

ID Card/Passport No.: ......c.cueveeee IESUed ORI <ccnavevemnnis . —



0 |y R s T ——

| attach herein the Curriculum Vitae of the candidate and other documents enclosed.

I hereby take full responsibility for this nomination and commit to strictly comply with the applicable
law and the Charter of Vilico.

Best Regards.

......... , date...... month...... year 2025
(Signature and stamp (if any))




APPLICATION FORM FOR NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE OF

VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC FOR THE 2025 - 2029 TERM

Respection to: The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC

We are sharcholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC (hereinafter referred to as the
"Company" or "Vilico"), hereby mutually agree to form a group of shareholders with detailed

information as follows:

Number of Business
Registratiuﬂ Number Of Ow“,ership
No. Name of shareholder Certificate/ID Shares Owned ratio (%)
card/Passport (shares)

L. | ceiees, N sEmaeives |l wewmessa || sesesiei %
% | mmemaam 0 |1 amemmemmsr 0 | sesvesssms )| seeweess %
2 v (NOUPUUO TR | (PR = g %
A | wmmssmse b mmmeassm 00 | meeaeies e Yo
TOTAL | iviiiieee | veeeveeenn %

After reviewing the criteria and conditions for becoming members of the Inspection Committee as
stipulated under the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate
Governance of the Company, we would like to nominate the following person(s) for the position(s)
of member(s) of the Inspection Committee for the 2025-2029 term:

1.  Full Name: ..cvevrrrrenneens

Date of birth: ..cccvvvvveernne.

2. Full: Bame: o

issued on: ..oeevnnn



Date Of BIrth: ..ot rss e s e
ID Card/Passport NO.: ....ccvevennenns 11T Uy LI, . | T ——
ADIRES: o

3. FullWemer uucimaisoimiiibsmimmeasiio G TR B R B s
Date OB BIIRY .....orermmomtsmmsacininnssicine st ks ioass s seie povai AR RIS s R s A e
ID Card/Passport NO.: c...uevernennn iSSUEA ON: cevvvvecvnenne DY
BREIIBERE ettt i A AR AT S RSB NIRRT AR SR TR SRR 1ATSS

We attach herein the Curriculum vitae of the candidate and other documents enclosed.

Best Regards.
s ennsese smvay, CURIBG as o iivivaniiavngas 2025

CONFIRMATION OF THE GROUP OF SHAREHOLDERS NOMINATING

Signature of the shareholder being individual/
Signature of authorized representative and
No.
Sharcholders stamp (if any) of the shareholder being
organization
1
2
3
4
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cHi" Hum 1" DRM No. 01C_IC: Application Form for Self-Nomination

1

APPLICATION FORM FOR SELF-NOMINATION OF
MEMBERS OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE OF
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC FOR 2025 - 2029 TERM

Respectfully to: The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC

MY DRINE 187 «ovsioioiimmabsdidiiossuiiisivssrevsnsasasiasiasey srsabisesis il iilesii s st adis e
Being a shareholder of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC (*Vilico™).

Enterprise Registration Certificate/ID Card/Passport NO.: ......ccciiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiinn
Issued on: ...... B i s s R B BB R R A S R S S S S
RRMRRIIET . ..o oot soes o T A R B B B S AN S A S o O AW e
TEE s cronnnnsonssmesmmsnmssssammmsonssonsss BRI o o rvsssnmsnmmsnrmrs y e s A A S S R SRR AR SRR A
The number of voting shares owned at Vilico is ........cocvvvieiiinnenn shares, representing ...... % of

the total number of voting shares of Vilico.

After reviewing the criteria and conditions for being the member of the Inspection Committee as
stipulated in the Law on Enterprise, the Charter and the Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance
of the Company, I would like to nominate myself as a candidate for the position of member of the
Inspection Committee of the Company for the 2025-2029 term.

In case of being elected by the Shareholders as a member of the Inspection Committee for the 2025-
2029 term, | undertake to use all my abilities and enthusiasm to contribute to the development of the
Company, and to perform duties honestly, faithfully, prudently and in the best interest of the
Company and always strictly comply with applicable laws and the Charter of the Company.

| attach herein my curriculum vitae and other documents enclosed.

Best Regards.

(Signature and Full Name)
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: Curriculum vitae of the candidate

CURRICULUM VITAE
OF THE CANDIDATE TO THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE

L Background information

PO BRRINEE oo s s o S A T TR A A R SRS
DateobBIEhE o G s e
e T e o1 £ O,
ONART: i v vom s vin o ¥ S SRR S SRS
MBI ciias s s AR AR R R P RN

o

o]

(0]

Lo}

o © 0 0o

o}

ID Card/Passport NO: ...o.vvvivininnnn. issued on

T MR oo T B R A TR AP AP

BOMEOWIE. - v s g s R e b e R R

Permanent Address: ...vverrevirrreeeirirrranaernssrsirrnnsasaaanssrisianas

Comieet 8Adress © ... oooo it intiissimvesssmsssnsssmmaie s i

Current position: ..................

Email: ..........

------------------

........

Educational level: ..................

> Educati | Traini

at Organization: ..................

Photo
(4x6, taken within
the last 06 months)

rrrrr

Year

Schools/Training centers

Degrees

2. Professional experiences




Year

Position

Name of organization

o Reward, discipline (if any) :

4. Related persons

(Declaring members in the candidate’s family: Biological parents, adoptive parents, spouses,

biological siblings, biological and adopted children).

No.

Full name

Relationship

Date of
birth

ID/Passport
No.

Occupation/
Position

Workplace

10444
—4

CONG
1T

JiCP



I hereby undertake that the aforementioned declaration is fully truthful and accurate. In
case of any untruthful information, I will be liable before laws.

, 2025

Nominee
(Signature, full name)
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In order to provide adequate information for the purpose of completing the profile of the candiate for
the position of members of the Inspection Committee and to enhance the transparency of information
for Vietnam Livestock Corporation — JSC ("Vilico") and all Shareholders of Vilico, I hereby declare
the relevant information to my profile as follows:

No.

Information

Yes

No

Notes

1

Currently working for Vilico in the
accounting or finance department.

Currently being a member or employee of an
independent auditing firm for Vilico in the
last three (03) vears.

Currently being a Manager (*) of Vilico.
(*) Manager includes the Chairperson of the

Board of Directors, members of the Board of

Directors, and other individuals holding
management positions at Vilico appointed
by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Having a spouse. biological parents,
adoptive parents, parents-in-law, biological
children, adopted children, son-in-law,
daughter-in-law,  biological  siblings,
siblings-in-law and biological siblings of the
spouse who is a member of the Board of
Directors, General Director, or other
Managers of Vilico. '

Being representative of the capital
contribution of another enterprise in Vilico
and Vinamilk (the parent company).

I hereby undertake that the aforementioned declaration is fully truthful, accurate and reasonable.

........

Nominee

(Signature and Full Name)




VIETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
CORPORATION - JSC Independence — Freedom — Happiness

No. 01/2025/VLC/NQ-DHDCD Ho Chi Minh City, 23 April 2025

RESOLUTION
2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC
Pursuant to:
Enterprise Law No. 39/2020/0H 14 and amended and supplemented documents from time 1o time;
Law No. 03/2022/QH15 amending and supplementing a number of articles of the Law on Public
Investment, Law on Investment in the Form of Public-Private Partnership, Law on Investment,
Housing Law, Bidding Law, Electricity Law, Law on Enterprises, Law on Excise Tax and the Law
on Enforcement of Civil Judgments;
- The current charter of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Charter”);
Minutes of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders dated April 23, 2024 of Vietnam
Livestock Corporation - JSC;

DECIDES:

Article 1: The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (“AGM”) of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation - JSC (“Vilico” or the “Company”) has approved this Resolution with the
following contents:
. The report of the Board of Directors (“BOD”) for 2024
The AGM approved the Report of the BOD for 2024 as presented in the AGM’s documents.
2. The report of the Inspection Committe (“1C”) for 2024
The AGM approved the Report of the IC for 2024 as presented in the AGM’s documents.
3. The audited 2024 financial statements
The AGM approved the 2024 Financial Statements audited by KPMG Ltd. as presented in the
AGM’s documents.
4. The audited report on the 2024 capital usage
The AGM approved the report on 2024 capital usage audited by KPMG Lid. as presented in
the AGM’s documents.
5.  The profit distribution for 2024
The AGM approved the profit distribution for 2024 as follows:
e Retained profit at the beginning of the year : 364.3 billion VND
e Retained profit at the end of the year : 395.2 billion VND
All retained profit as of December 31, 2024 will be kept to strengthen the capital source for

business operations and investment in the Company's key projects.
6. The revenue and profit guidance for 2025



The AGM approved the Company’s 2025 revenue and profit guidance as follows:

No. Main indicators 2025 | 2024 | % compared to the
1 | Total revenue 3.3394 2.957.3 12,9%
2 | Profit before tax 124,7 138,2 -9.8%
3 | Profit after Tax 89,5 117.1 -23.5%

The selection of independent auditors for fiscal year 2025
The AGM approved the list of independent auditors for the fiscal year 2025 as the following:
KPMG Company Limited (KPMG).
PwC (Vietnam) Company Limited (PwC).
Ernst & Young Vietnam Co., Ltd. (EsY).
Deloitte Vietnam Co., Ltd.
To assign the Board of Directors to select an independent audit entity as one of four audit firms
above for the fiscal year 2025.
The total remuneration and other benefits for the Board of Directors and the Inspection
Committee in 2025
The AGM approved the total remuneration and benefits for the Board of Directors and the
Inspection Committee in 2025:
Chairperson of the BOD  : 10.000.000 VND/month

- Member of the BOD : 8.000.000 VND/month
- Head of the IC : 8.000.000 VND/month
Member of the IC : 6,000,000 VND/month

The election of members of the Board of Directors for the 2025-2029 term

The AGM approved the election of personnel below to become of members of the Board of
Directors for the 2025-2029 term as below:
No. | Fullname

. (B

The election of members of the Inspection Committee for the 2025-2029 term
The AGM approved the election of personnel below to become of members of the Inspection
Committee for the 2025-2029 term as below:

No. Fullname

L L.

Article 2: The Board of Directors, the Inspection Committee, the legal representative,




Shareholders of the Company and related persons are responsible for the implementation of this
Resolution.

Article 3: This Resolution takes effect from the date of signing.

FOR ON BEHALF OF THE AGM
CHAIRPERSON

MAI KIEU LIEN
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Corporate Information

Establishing Documents

Board of Directors

‘Board of Management

Supervisory Board

Registered Office

Auditor

Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the Minister
of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring of
entities affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development.

The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam Livestock Corporation
— Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14
December 2012 of the Prime Minister.,

Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443 was initially
issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June
2010. The Enterprise Registration Certificate has been amended
several times, the most recent of which is dated 16 November 2023

(the 12" amendment).

Ms. Mai Kieu Lien

Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach
Mr. Le Thanh Liem
Mr. Do Hoang Phuc
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh
Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam
Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram
Mr. Tran Chi Son

Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran
Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu

Mr. Trinh Cong Son

Mr. Truong Anh Vu

Chairman

Member

Member

Member

Member (from 23/4/2024)
Member (until 23/4/2024)

General Director

Deputy General Director (from 1/3/2024)
Deputy General Director (from 1/10/2024)
Deputy General Director (amil 1/3/2024)

Head of Supervisory Board (from 23/4/2024)
Head of Supervisory Board (until 23/4/2024)
Member
Member

519 Minh Khai, Vinh Tuy Ward
Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi

Vietnam

KPMG Limited
Vietnam
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Statement of the Board of Management

The Board of Management of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the
Corporation™) presents this statement and the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting. In the opinion of the Corporation’s Board of Management:

- W

(a) the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 5 to 50 give a true and fair view of the P
consolidated financial position of the Corporation as at 31 December 2024, and of its [
consolidated results of operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in n
accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for
Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial reporting; and N

s

(b) at the date of this statement, there is no reason to believe that the Corporation and its .
subsidiaries will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Management has, on the date of this statement, authorised the accompanying

consolidated financial statements for issue.
alf of the Board of Management,

e
o
CHiN MUl TET uni.n
Poan Quoc Khanh
General Director -
20
Hanoi, 20 March 2025
AG
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KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the year
then ended and the explanatory notes thereto which were authorised for issue by the Corporation's
Board of Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 5 to 50.

Management’s Responsibility

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Viethamese Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Corporation's preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s Board of Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Limited, a Vietnamese ona member limited lisbility company and a member firm of the 3
KPMIG global organizatlon of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG Intemational Limited,
a private English company limited by guarantas. All rights resarved

W =< .

WA



KPMG

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the consolidated financial position of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock
Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated results of operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese

Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial
reporting.

KPMG Limited
Vietham

-

Phan My Linh
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Current assets
(100 =110+ 120 + 130 + 140 + 150)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash
Cash equivalents

Short-term financial investments
Held-to-maturity investments

Accountis receivable — short-term
Accounts receivable from customers
Prepayments to suppliers
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

Inventories
Inventories
Allowance for inventories

Other current assets
Short-term prepaid expenses
Deductible value added tax
Taxes and others receivable from
State Treasury

Code

100

110
111
112

120
123

130
131
132
136
137

140
141
149

150
151
152

153

Form B 01 —- DN/HN
((Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

Note 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

4,077,377,193,831  4,395,841,797,909

4 420,708,312,481  1,333,640,975,908
80,708.312,481 165,271,086.233
340,000,000,000  1,168,369,889,675
2,989,300,000,000  2,212,175,239,600

5(a)  2,989,300.000,000  2,212,175,239,600
360,531,392,858 565,559,399,399

6 212,957,874,264 209.,426,858,305

7 55,078,818,716 199,127,134,212
8(a) 98,189,135,545 161,105,281,882
9 (5.694,435,667) (4,099,875,000)
10 259,498,755,477 210,159,908,095
264,793,078,934 213,712,842,801
(5,294,323,457) (3.552,934,706)
47,338,733,015 74,306,274,907

15(a) 10,121,406,212 8,294,069,928
13,599,703,345 24,173,581,908

19(a) 23,617,623,458 41,838,623,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

- d .



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Long-term assets
(200 =210 + 220 + 240 + 250 + 260)

Accounts receivable — long-term
Other long-term receivables

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Intangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Long-term work in progress
Long-term work in progress
Construction in progress

Long-term financial investments
Investments in associates
Equity investments in other entities
Allowance for diminution in the value
of long-term financial investments
Held-to-maturity investments

Other long-term assets

Long-term prepaid expenses
Goodwill

TOTAL ASSETS
(270 = 100 + 200)

Code

200

210
216

220
221
222
223
227
228
229

240
241
242

250
252
253

254
255

260

261
269

270

Form B 01 — DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

e 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

2,738,207,494,178  1,518,694,296,782
635,015,165 309,215,750

8(b) 635,015,165 309,215,750
1,481,985,359,926 940,851,444,594

1 1,074,641,512,241 498,591,750,755
2,083,591,673,878  1,446,050,755,948
(1,008,950,161,637)  (947,459,005,193)

12 407,343 ,847,685 442,259,693,839
695.143,808,579 694,627,026,579
(287,799,960,894)  (252,367,332,740)
884,968,336,598 239,769,884,354

13 20,571,420,405 11,324,330,731
14 864,396,916,193 228,445,553,623
252,487,650,621 180,672,273,260

5(b) 172,403,931,021 173,121,453,660
5(¢) 22,378.,531,927 29,845,631,927
5(c) (22,294,812,327) (22.294,812,327)
5(a) 80,000,000,000 :
118,131,131,868 157,091,478,824

15(b) 25,946,388,259 18,814,363,410
17 92,184,743,609 138,277,115.414
6,815,584,688,009  5,914,536,094,691

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

RESOURCES

LIABILITIES (300 = 310 + 330)

Current liabilities

Accounts payable to suppliers

Advances from customers

Taxes and others payable to

State Treasury

Payables to employees
Accrued expenses

Other payables — short-term
Short-term borrowings
Provisions — short-term
Bonus and welfare fund

Long-term liabilities
Other payables — long-term
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions — long-term

EQUITY (400 = 410)

Owners’ equity
Share capital

Ordinary shares with voting rights

Share premium
Other capital

Differences upon asset revaluation
Investment and development fund

Retained profits

Retained profits brought forward
Profit for the current year

Non-controlling interest

TOTAL RESOURCES
(440 = 300 + 400)

Prepared by:

Y

Hoang Manh Cuong
Chief Accountant

Code Note

300

310
311 18
312

313 19(b)
314

315 20
319 21(a)
320 22
321

22 B

330
337 21(b)
341 16(a)
342

400

410 24
411 25
41la
412
414
416
418 27
421
421a
421b
429

Form B 01 — DN/HN

{Fssued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024
VND

807,906,907,427

698,534,532,775
381,625,195.442
4,698,071,846

9,661,048,509
23,294.510.881
98,563.294.515
6,352,960,875
99,000,000.000
2,461,920,000
72,877,530,707

109,372,374,652
122927552
105,494,756,743
3,154,690,357

6,007,677,780,582

6,007,677,780,582
2.124,916,110,000
2,124,916,110,000
1,192,426.603,378
37,813.265,256
(64,809.947,101)
116,421,721,734
122,473,412,211
81,379,034,433
41,094,377,778
2,478,436.615,104

1/1/2024
VND

507,288,445,735

383,348,951,078
153,446,507.473
2,253,225.266

3,221,153,642
20,834,169,802
86,962,286,651
22,519,295,983

2,232,994,560
91,879,317,701

123,939,494,657
1,063,378.252
119,587.417,399
3.288,699.006

5,407,247,648,956

5,407,247,648,956
2,124,916.110,000
2,124,916,110,000
1,192,426,603,378
37,813,265,256
(64,809,947,101)
132,180,196,331
368,973,120,483
280,414,103,359
88,559,017,124
1,615,748,300,609

440

6,815,584,688,009

5,914,536,094,691

Nguyen Duc Nam

Deputy General Direcior

J&An Quoc Khanh
General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements




Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 02 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code Note VND VND
RBVE[II.-IE from sales of goods and provision 01 29 2,959,887,011,881 3,154,135,415,593
of services
Revenue deductions 02 29 2,553,967,539 2,130,324,193
Net revenue (10 = 01 - 02) 10 29 2,957,333,044,342 3,152,005,091,400
Cost of sales 11 30 2,187,391,794,409 2,205,689,908,842
Gross profit (20=10-11) 20 769,941,249,933 946,315,182,558
Financial income 21 31 210,038,846.800 266,335.775,571
Financial expenses 22 1,964,157,193 951,991,578
In which: Interest expense 23 1,732,481,.8058 -
Share of profit/(loss) in associates 24 1,082,477.361 (13,370,328,202)
Selling expenses 25 32 680.453,920,008 725,680,456,134
General and administration expenses 26 33 155.092,466,161 143.451,212,742
Net operating profit
(30 =20 + (21 - 22) + 24 - (25 + 26)} 30 143,552,030,732 329,196,969,473
Other income 31 34 16,343,611.016 17.468.070.,584
Other expenses 32 35 21,686,813,485 19,361,117,580
Results of other activities (40 = 31 - 32) 40 (5,343,202,469) (1,893,046,996)
Accounting profit before tax
(50 = 30 + 40) 50 138.208,828,263 327,303,922,477
Income tax expense — current 51 37 35,251,255,464 51,858,741,460
Income tax benefit — deferred 52 37 (14,092,660,655) (13,662,933,640)
Net profit after tax
(60=50-51-52) 60 117,050,233,454 289,108,114,657

(carried forward to next page)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 02 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023

Code Note VND VND

Net profit after tax

(60 =50 -51-52) 60 117,050,233,454 289,108,114,657
(brought forward from previous page)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 61 54,135.679,570 156,602.643,769
Non-controlling interest 62 62,914,553,884 132,505,470.888

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 70 38 193 689

20 March 2025

Prepared by: Reviewed by:
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen'Duc Nam
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for
Depreciation
Allowances and provisions

Exchange losses arising from revaluation of

monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies

Profits from investing activities
Interest expense

Operating profit before changes in
working capital

Change in receivables
Change in inventories
Change in payables and other
liabilities

Change in prepaid expenses

Interest paid
Income tax paid

Other receipts from operating activities
Other payments for operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

Code

01

02
03

04
05
06

08

09
10

11
12

14
15
16

17

20

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for additions to fixed assets

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and

other long-term assets

Payments for placement of term deposits, and
advanced funds to livestock households
Receipts from withdrawal of term deposits and

advanced funds

Collections on investments in other entities

Receipts of interests and dividends

Net cash flows from investing activities

21

Form B 03 — DN/HN

{Issued wnder Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024
VND

138,208,828,263

180,886,217,046
3,430,866,209

106,030,447
(198,013,183,510)
1,732,481,808

2023
VND

327,303,922,477

175,599,324.,268
2,130,139,130

403,325
(239,133.,935,829)

126,351,240,263

265,899,853,371

8§,206,682,156
(49,550,236,133)

143,190,798.850

(33,273,381,650)
(1,937.125,386)

68,407,160,998

(12.399.878.389) (10,643.292.041)
215,798,606,747 288,453,215,292
(577,078.077) -

(19.648,192,531) (64,871,125,625)
- 3,300,000

(40.993.864,222) (27,847.536,691)
154,579,471,917 195,737,852,976

(1,076.018,999,646)
1,510,976,553

(4,479,400,000,000)
3,623,063,539.600

23,334,764,000
229.570,622,349

(388,846,099,123)
3,593,995,046

(3.423,910,239,600)
3,280,932,064.,438

215,804,258,930

(1,671,939,097,144)

(312,426,020,309)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Indirect method — continued)

Form B 03 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code VND VND
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from equity issued 31 722.407,000,000 899,515,232,000
Proceeds from borrowings 129,000,000.000
Payments to settle loan principals 33 (30.000,000,000) -
Payments of dividends 36 (216.980,038.200) (192,950,510,700)
Net cash flows from financing activities 40 604,426.961,800 706,564,721,300
Net cash flows during the year
(50 = 20 + 30 + 40) 50 (912,932,663,427) 589.876,553,967
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 60 1,333,640,975,908 743,764,825,266
the year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
and cash equivalents o1 ) e
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 70 420,708,312,481 1,333,640,975,908

the year (70 = 50 + 60 + 61) (Note 4)

20 March 2025

: Q’\ﬂﬁ‘!ﬂ‘{f
Prepared by: Reviewed by; A 4 Approved by:
ofom . “A

3
=/ TONG CONG-T -&\ "
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam /
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

F0an Quoc Khanh

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



(a)

(b)

(c)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No, 202/2014TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation™ or “VLC”), whose
predecessor was Vietnam Livestock Corporation affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development, was established under Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring of entities affiliated to
the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development. The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam
Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14 December
2012 of the Prime Minister and operates under Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443
initially issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June 2010 and its 12t
amendment dated 16 November 2023,

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024
comprise the Corporation and its subsidiaries and the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ interest in
associates.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are:

- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;

- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds;

- Processing milk and dairy products;

- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products;

- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Normal operating cycle

The normal operating cycle of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is generally within 12 months.

12
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(¥

(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese
Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements, except for the consolidated statement of cash flows. are
prepared on the accrual basis using the historical cost concept. The consolidated statement of cash
flows is prepared using the indirect method.

Annual accounting period

The annual accounting period of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is from 1 January to 31
December.

Accounting and presentation currency

The Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ accounting currency is Vietnam Dong (*VND”), which is also
the currency used for financial statement presentation purpose. All amounts have been presented in
VND, unless otherwise noted.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation and its
subsidiaries in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

Changes in the Corporation’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as transactions with owners. The difference between the change in the Corporation’s
share of net assets of the subsidiary and any consideration paid or received is recorded directly in
retained profits under equity.

14
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

(iii) Associates

(iv)

(b)

(¢)

Associates are those entities in which the Corporation has significant influence, but not control, over
the financial and operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are
initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Corporation’s share of the profit or loss of the equity
accounted associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Corporation,
from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
The carrying amount of investments in equity accounted investees is also adjusted for the alterations
in the investor's proportionate interest in the investees arising from changes in the investee's equity
that have not been included in the income statement (such as revaluation of fixed assets, or foreign
exchange translation differences, etc.).

When the Corporation’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate, the
carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Corporation has an obligation
or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

Transactions eliminated on conselidation

Intra-group transactions, balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains and
losses arising from transactions with equity accounted associates are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Corporation’s interest in the associate.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than VND during the year have been translated into VND at rates
approximating actual rates of exchange ruling at the transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than VND are translated into VND
at the account transfer buying rate and account transfer selling rate at the end of the accounting period
quoted by the commercial bank where the Corporation and its subsidiaries most frequently conducts
transactions.

All foreign exchange differences are recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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(d)
(i)

(i)

(e)

M

(2)
(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
fissued under Cireutar No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Investments

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are those that the Corporation or its subsidiaries has the intention and
ability to hold until maturity. Held-to-maturity investments represent term deposits at banks. These
investments are stated at costs less allowance for doubtful debts.

Equity investments in other entities

Equity investments in other entities are initially recognised at cost which include purchase price plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are
stated at cost less allowance for diminution in value.

An allowance is made for diminution in investment value if the investee has suffered a loss which
may cause the Corporation to lose its invested capital, unless there is evidence that the value of the
investment has not been diminished. The allowance is reversed if the investee subsequently made a
profit that offsets the previous loss for which the allowance had been made. An allowance is reversed
only to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost in the case of finished goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct
labour and attributable manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
of inventory items, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to sell.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries apply the perpetual method of accounting for inventories.

Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Livestock

Livestock are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of livestock comprises all
actual costs and any directly attributable costs incurred in forming and raising livestock until bringing
the livestock to its productive condition for its intended use (i.e. when the livestock reach the age of
16 months).
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(h)

(i)

(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No. 202:2014/TT-B1C
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Other tangible fixed assets

Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of a
tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after other tangible fixed assets have been put into operation, such as repair,
maintenance and overhaul cost, is charged to the consolidated statement of income in the year in
which the cost is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of other
tangible fixed assets beyond their originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of other tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of tangible fixed
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

*  buildings and structures 5 —50 years
* plant and equipment 4 —30 years
= motor vehicles 5 —10 years
=  office equipment 3 — 8 years
= livestock 4 — 7 years
= others 3 - 8 years

Intangible fixed assets

Advantages of land lease rights, trademarks and material zones

Advantages of land lease rights, trademarks and material zones are intangible fixed assets obtained
by the Corporation upon acquisition of subsidiaries and are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date.

Advantages of land lease rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining period of
the land lease contracts. Advantages of trademarks are amortised on a straight-line basis over 20
years. Advantages of material zones are amortised on a straight-line basis over 18 years.

Computer software and management software

Cost of acquiring new computer software and management software, which is not an integral part of
the related hardware, is capitalised and treated as an intangible asset. Computer software and
management software cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over 2 to 5 years.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of tangible fixed assets which have not been fully
completed or installed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the period of
construction and installation.

17

Ao Mo

—



@
(i)

(ii)

(k)

)

(m)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(lssued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Long-term prepaid expenses

Tools and instruments

Tools and instruments include assets held for use by the Corporation and its subsidiaries in the normal
course of business whose costs of individual items are less than VND30 million and therefore not
qualified for recognition as fixed assets under prevailing regulations. Cost of tools and instruments
are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from over 2 to 3 years.

Other long-term prepaid expenses

Other long-term prepaid expenses comprise expenses for periodic renovation, repair, billboards rental
which are recognised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from 18
months to 36 months.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Cost of goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
Corporation’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess is negative (gain from bargain purchase), it is recognised
in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary is amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 years.
Carrying value of goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary is written down to recoverable
amount as management determines that it is not fully recoverable.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

Provision

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation and its subsidiaries have a
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Severance allowance

Under the Vietnamese Labour Code, when an employee who has worked for 12 months or more (“the
eligible employees™) voluntarily terminates his/her labour contract, the employer is required to pay
the eligible employee severance allowance calculated based on years of service and employee’s
compensation at termination. Provision for severance allowance has been provided based on
employees” years of service and their average salary for the six-month period prior to the end of the
accounting period. For the purpose of determining the number of years of service by an employee.
the period for which the employee participated in and contributed to unemployment insurance in
accordance with prevailing laws and regulations and the period for which severance allowance has
been paid by the Corporation and its subsidiaries are excluded.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are stated at issue price less any costs directly attributable fo the issue of shares, net
of tax effects. These costs are recognised as a deduction from share premium.

Taxation

Income tax on the consolidated profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at
the end of the annual accounting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the annual accounting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will

be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Tesued under Circular No. 202201 4TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Revenue and other income

Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is
recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or the
possible return of goods. Revenue on sales of goods is recognised at the net amount after deducting
sales discounts.

Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in proportion
to the stage of completion of the transaction. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to
surveys of work performed. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding
recovery of the consideration due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis with reference to the principal outstanding
and the applicable interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Share dividends
are not recognised as income. Dividends received which are attributable to the period before
investment acquisition date are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the

consolidated statement of income as an integral part of the total lease expense. over the term of the
lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred, except where
the borrowing costs relate to borrowings in respect of the construction of qualifying assets, in which
case the borrowing costs incurred during the period of construction are capitalized as part of the cost
of the assets concerned.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Earnings per share

The Corporation presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders (after deducting any
amounts appropriated to bonus and welfare fund for the accounting period) of the Corporation by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had no dilutive potential ordinary shares. As a result,
requirement for presentation of diluted EPS is not applicable.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Corporation and its subsidiaries that is engaged
either in providing related products or services (business segment), or in providing products or
services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks
and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Board of General Directors is of the
opinion that the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ principal activities are raising dairy cows,
production and trading of products related to dairy cows. Therefore, the Corporation and its
subsidiaries do not present a report by business segments.

Geographical segment of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is determined based on the country
where revenue is generated. The Board of General Directors is of the opinion that the Corporation
and its subsidiaries operate in one geographical area which is Vietnam.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Corporation and its subsidiaries if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly. to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operating decisions, or where the Corporation and its subsidiaries and the
other party are subject to common control or significant influence. Related parties may be individuals
or corporate entities and include close family members of any individual considered to be a related
party.

Related companies refer to the parent company of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and associates.

Comparative information

Comparative information in these consolidated financial statements is presented as corresponding
figures. Under this method, comparative information for the prior year is included as an integral part
of the current year financial statements and is intended to be read only in relation to the amounts and
other disclosures relating to the current year. Accordingly, the comparative information included in
these consolidated financial statements is not intended to present the Corporation’s and its
subsidiaries’ consolidated financial position, results of operation or cash flows for the prior year.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No. 20220014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

4. Cash and cash equivalents

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Cash on hand 35,130,285 57,918,453
Cash in banks 80,673,182,196 165,213,167.780
Cash equivalents (*) 340,000,000,000  1,168,369,889,675

420,708,312,481  1.,333,640,975,908

(*)  Asat 31 December 2024, cash equivalents represent the deposits in VND at commercial banks with
original terms not exceeding 3 months,
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6.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/ 2014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

The voting rights percentage of the Corporation at Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is less than 20%.
However, the Corporation’s Board of Management assesses that the Corporation has significant
influences on Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC because a member of the Corporation’s Board of
Management is Member of the Board of Management of Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC. Therefore,
the investment in Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is presented in Investments in associates.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have not determined fair values of these investments for
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements because information about their market prices is
not available or their trading volume in the market is low and there is currently no guidance on
determination of fair value using valuation techniques under the Vietnamese Accounting Standards
or the Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises. The fair values of these investments may
differ from their carrying amounts,

Movements in investments in associates during the period were as follows:

Opening balance

2024
VND

173,121,453,660

2023
VND

186.491,781.862

Share of profit/(loss) in associates
Dividends received from associates

1,082,477,361 (13,370,328,202)
(1.800,000,000) =

Closing balance

172,403,931.021 173,121,453,660

Accounts receivable from customers

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 76,288,728.144 35,267,030,828
Other parties

TNS Vietnam Development Joint Stock Company 1,731,465,441 1,269,707.441
Aeon Vietnam Company Limited - 1,579.868.980
Other customers 134,937,680.679  171.310,251,056

212,957.874,264  209,426.858.305

The trade related amounts due from the parent company were unsecured, interest free and are due in
40 - 47 days from invoice date.
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(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Issued under Civeular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Prepayments to suppliers

31/12/2024
VND

Maeda Vietnam Co., Ltd (*)
Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and Trade

10,333,826,230

Corporation (*) 10.,929,614,705
Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company (*) 11,163,675,432
Moc Chau Construction and Investment Joint Stock

Company 5,044,409,402

DMC - VTS Joint Venture Co., Ltd 3,721,075,000
SMOSA Vietnam Technology Joint Stock Company (*) -
Tetrapak Vietnam Joint Stock Company -
Other prepayments to suppliers 13.886,217.947

1/1/2024
VND

122,195,632,115

25,867,523,065
20,949.748,627

2.956.475,550
3,721,075,000
13,706.216,084
1,077.333,450
8,653,130,321

55,078,818.716

199,127,134,212

These advances were made in relation to the investment project for farm renovation, conversion from
raising pigs to raising beef cattle, construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution

facility in Tam Dao District, Vinh Phuc Province (“Tam Dao Project™).

Other receivables

Other short-term receivables:

31/12/2024
VND
Related party
Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC 12.337.000

Other parties

Interests from deposits 88,286.247.126
Advance of fund to livestock farm households -
Dividends receivable 528.800,000
Other receivables 0.361,751.419

1/1/2024
VND

12,337,000

126,487,849,629
24,542,700,000
528,800,000
9,533,595,253

98,189.135,545

161,105.281.882

The non-trade related amounts due from the related company were unsecured, interest free and are

receivable upon demand.

Other long-term receivables:

31/12/2024
VND

Deposits 635,015,165

1/1/2024
VND

309,215,750
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10.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Inventories

Raw materials
Tools and supplies
Work in progress
Finished goods
Merchandise
inventories

Form B 09 — DN/HN

{Issued under Cireular No, 202:201477T-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024

Cost
VND

131,224,587.329
3,420,121.847
86,481.801,331
41,763,251,257

1,903,317,170

Allowance
VND

(667,108,103)
(75,258,432)

(4,551,956.922)

1/1/2024

Cost
VND

147,277,620,727
2,684.341,574
33,280.,329.333
29.967.489,257

503,061,910

Allowance
VND

(1,754,923.165)
(293,843.525)

(1.504.168.016)

264,793,078,934

(5.294,323,457)

213,712,842.801

(3.552,934,706)
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14.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Long-term work in progress

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Long-term work in progress represents the carrying amount of dairy cows of less than 16 months of
age which will be transferred to tangible fixed assets under livestock when the cows are at the full
age of 16 months; i.e., when the cows are available for milking.

Movements in long-term work in progress during the period were as follows:

Opening balance

Additions

Transfer to tangible fixed asset
Other decreases

2024
VND

11,324,330,731
27.879,930,717
(13.387,755,416)

(5.245,085,627)

2023
VYND

11,391,545,403
22,516,334,588
(16,369.733.493)

(6,213,815,767)

Closing balance

Construction in progress

Opening balance

Additions during the year

Transfer to tangible fixed asset

Transfer to intangible fixed asset

Transfer to long-term prepaid expense
Reclassification from long-term prepaid expenses

Closing balance

Major constructions in progress were as follows:

High-tech dairy cow eco-tourism farm with 4,000 cows
Tam Dao Project

Hung Yen Dairy Factory Project

Upgrading of Breeds Center No. 2

VILICO Tower Construction Project

Others

20,571,420,405 11,324,330,731
2024 2023
VND YND

228,445,553,623 05,736,189,738

1,193,122,825,412
(558.565,198,098)
(516,782,000)
(1,530,000,000)
3,440,517,256

310,709,841,959
(177,625.401.731)

(375,076.343)

864,396,916,193

228.,445,553.623

31/12/2024
VYND

143,242,557.097
629,390,173,226
63,428,745,942

2,664,654,545
25,670,785,383

1/1/2024
VND

100,212,018.073
85,715,082,910
32,862,278,915
4,051,466,587
2,664,654,545
2.940,052,593

864.396,916,193

228,445,553,623
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

15. Prepaid expenses

(a) Short-term prepaid expenses

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/ 2014/ TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Tools and instruments 2.247.583,322 786.686.814

Advertising expenses
Other short-term prepaid expenses

326,394,115
7,547,428,775

1,620,458.470
5.886,924,644

10,121,406,212 8,294.069,928
(b) Long-term prepaid expenses
Tools and Other long-term
instruments prepaid expenses Total
VND VND VND
Opening balance 15,456,144,286 3.358,219,124 18,814,363,410
Additions 4.891,696,784 19,664,917,681 24,556,614,465
Amortisation for the year (9.846,110,078) (7,578,479,538)  (17,424,589.616)
Closing balance 10,501,730,992 15,444,657,267 25.946.388,259
16. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
(a) Recognised deferred tax liabilities
Tax 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
rate VYND VND
Deferred tax liabilities:
Origination from allowance for investments in
subsidiaries and associates 20% 9.404.228,343 0,986,766,098
Origination from revaluated assets 20% 96,090,528.,400 109.600.,651,301

Total deferred tax liabilities

105.494,756,743

119,587,417,399




(b)

17.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Form B 09 —- DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Temporary Temporary
difference Tax value difference Tax value
VND VND VND VND
Deductible temporary
differences 4,723,017,623 944,603,525 1,737,856,425 347,571,285
Tax losses 24.,898.661,685 4,979,732,337  16,423,915,820 3,284,783.164

29.621,679,308

5.924,335.862  18,161,772,245 3,632,354,449

The tax losses expire in the following years:

Year of expiry

2027
2028
2029

Status of tax review Tax losses available
VND

Outstanding 15,378,670.700

Outstanding 1,036,245,120

Outstanding 8,483,745 865

24.898,661.,685

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the Corporation and its subsidiaries can utilise

the benefits therefrom.

Goodwill

Cost

Opening and closing balance

Accumulated amortisation

Opening balance
Amortisation for the year

Closing balance

Net book value
Opening balance
Closing balance

Goodwill
VND

460,923,718.049

322,646,602.635
46.,092,371,805

368,738,974,440

138,277,115.414
92,184,743,609
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Accounts payable to suppliers — short-term

Cost and amount within
payment capacity

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

The parent company
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 1,798,622,554 4,249.629.635
Other related companies
Vietnam Peter Hand Animal Development - 857,500,000
Company Limited
Vietnam Dairy Cow One-Member Company Limited 8,457,252,082 1,817,241,812
Vietnam Peter Hand Animal Development
Company Limited 1,913,700,000 -
Thong Nhat Thanh Hoa Dairy Cow Company Limited 664,819,676 -

Other parties

Maeda Vietnam Company Limited

Livestock farm households

Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and
Trade Corporation

Number 52 Hanoi Housing Investment and
Development Joint Stock Company

Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company
Vietnam SMOSA Technology Joint Stock Company

64.580,081.893
49,635,070,519

59.463,066.884

28.651,123.677
27,983,983,281

Other parties 138,477,474.876

41,055,768,912

22,922,737,736

82,543,629,378

381.,625,195,442

153,446,507,473

The amounts due to the related parties were unsecured, interest free and are payable within 20 to 30

days from invoice date.
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19.

(a)

(*)

(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Tssued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Taxes and others receivable from/payable to State Treasury

Taxes and others receivable from State Treasury

1/1/2024
VND

Value added tax
Corporate income tax (*)

25,866,803.871
14,718.888,075

Incurred

VND

Personal income tax 251,650
Land and housing taxes and
land rental 1,252,679,475

6.341,151,247
6,944.256,577

Paid/offset
VND

(16,773,290,733)
(13,538,273,873)

(1,194,842,831)

31/12/2024
VND

15,434,664,385
8,124,870,779
251,650

57.836.644

41,838.623,071

13,285.407,824

(31,506,407,437)

23,617.623.,458

During the year, the Corporation temporarily paid corporate income tax related to the advances of

JVL for the transfer of the Tam Dao Project.

Taxes and others payable to State Treasury

1/1/2024
VND

Value added tax 2,183,829.839
Corporate income tax -

Personal income tax 360,270,795
Natural resource taxes 20,274,000
Land and housing

taxes and land rental 656,779,008

Others =

Incurred
VIND

128,446,125,077

35,251,255,463

12,741,354,947
282.213.862

16,994.,572,445
1,919.491.654

Paid/offset
VND

(130.600,768.918)
(26.242,209,827)
(12,497,265.608)

(285,714,662)

(17.651,351,453)
(1,917.808,113)

31/12/2024
VND

29,185,998
9,009,045.636
604,360,134
16,773,200

1,683,541

3,221,153,642

195,635,013,448

(189,195,118,581)

9.661,048.509

The Corporation and its subsidiaries’ tax obligations are subject to review by tax authorities. As the
application of tax laws and regulations is susceptible to varying interpretations, the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements may change later upon final determination by the tax

authorities.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

20. Accrued expenses — short-term

Support, advertising and promotion expenses (i)
Payment for milk purchases from livestock households
Expenses for advertising on mass media

Machinery maintenance expenses

[nterest expenses

Others

Form B 09 — DN/HN

31/12/2024
VND

51,185.676.782
3,303,111,497
404,671,001

(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

1/1/2024
VND

68.869.657,498
2,763,274,870
4,056,263,697

1,688,350,678 2,671,590,375
1,155,403,733 -
40,826,080.824 8.601,500,211
98,563,294,515 86.962.286,651

(1)  Expenses for sales promotion programs represent the amounts paid to customers under sales
promotion programs applied by the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

21. Other payables

(a) Other payables — short-term

Livestock Support Fund

Trade union fees

Payables and advances to employees
Dividend payables

Short-term deposits and collaterals received
Others

(b) Other payables — long-term

Study promotion fund and other funds
Long-term deposits and collaterals received

31/12/2024
VND

850,358,888
288,553,836
257,538,055
223,406,130
187.000,000

4,546,103,966

1/1/2024
VND

5,384,973,619
286,839,162
917,800,570
168,419,730

15.761,262,902

6,352.960.875

22,519,295,983

31/12/2024
VND

400,327,552
322,600,000

1/1/2024
VND

790,778,252
272,600,000

722,927,552

1,063,378,252
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22.

23.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No, 202/ 20014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Short-term borrowings

1/172024 Movement during the year 31/12/2024
Carrying
amount and Carrying
Amount amount and
within Amount within
repayment repayment
capacity Additions Decrease capacity
VND VND VND VND
Short-term borrowings - 129.000,000.000 (30,000,000,000)  99,000,000,000

Terms and conditions of outstanding short-term borrowings were as follows:

Lender I Annual 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
y Interest VND VND
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for
Foreign Trade of Vietnam — Ho Chi
Minh City Branch VND 2.6%  99.000,000,000 -

This loan has a term of 6 months and is unsecured.

Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is established by appropriating from profit after tax as approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. This fund is used to pay bonus and welfare to the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’
employees in accordance with their bonus and welfare policies. Movements of bonus and welfare
fund during the year were as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 91,879.317.701 74,402,567,726
Appropriation 21,992,077.228 45.320,986,666
Other increases - 3,300,000
Utilisation (40,993,864,222) (27.847.536.691)
Closing balance 72,877,530,707 91.879.317.701
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25.

26.

27.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)
Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Issued under Civcular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Share capital

The Corporation’s authorised and issued share capital are:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Number of Number of
shares VND shares VYND

Authorised share
capital 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000
Issued share capital

Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000
Shares in circulation

Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124.916,110,000 212,491,611  2.124,916,110,000

The parent company of the Corporation is Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company, a company
established in Vietnam.

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at meetings of
the Corporation. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard to the Corporation’s residual assets.

Dividends

The Corporation’s General Meeting of Shareholders on 23 April 2024 approved the distribution of
dividends of 2023 amounting to VND127,495 million (equivalent to VND600 per share) (2023:
VND103.408 million (equivalent to VND600 per share)).

Investment and development fund

Investment and development fund was appropriated from profit after tax in accordance with the
resolution of General Meeting of Shareholders. This fund was established for the purpose of future
business expansion

In 2024, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved not to appropriate the Investment and
Development fund from profit after tax of 2023. Accordingly, the Board of Management and the
Board of General Directors of the Corporation reversed the provisional allocation of the Investment
and Development fund made in 2023.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

28. Off balance sheet items

(a) Leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Within one year 30,025,791.865 17.800,546,975
Within two to five years 100,317.433.093 60,186,462,881
More than five years 930,485,444,725 494,130,441,631

1,060,828,669,683 572,117,451,487

(b) Foreign currencies

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Original YND Original
currency equivalent currency VND equivalent
USD - - 64 1,545,213
EUR - - 101 2,673,933

4,219,146

(c¢) Capital expenditure commitments

The Corporation had the following commitments under foreign exchange contracts to purchase USD
at 31 December 2024, which were recorded as an ofT balance sheet item:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Approved but not contracted 2,557,850.468,848  2,544,512,832.403 ;\{'
Approved and contracted 1,449,594,557,133  1,306,731,344,484 2

4,007,445,025,981  3,851,244,176.887
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29,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Revenue from sales of goods

Form B 09 - DN/HN

(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Total revenue represents the gross value of goods sold exclusive of value added tax.

Net revenue comprised:

Total revenue
* Sales of finished goods
Sales of goods

]
= Sales of services
s Others

Less revenue deductions

= Sales returns
= Sales discounts

Net revenue

30. Cost of sales

Total cost of sales:

= Finished goods sold
Merchandise goods sold
Services provided
Others

Allowance for inventories

2024
VND

2.877,702,899,920
78,016,119,412
3,003,878,381
1,164,114,168

2023
VND

3,068,982.891,091
80,941,715,003
3,172,599,938
1,038,209,561

2,959,887.011,881

3,154,135,415,593

199,737,940
2,354,229,599

112,975,903
2,017,348,290

2,553,967.539

2,130,324,193

2,957,333,044,342

3,152,005,091,400

2024
VND

2,107,860,361.549
65,146.465,047
3,696,021,831
8.628.972,954
2,059.973.028

2023
VND

2,120,823,056,665
71,490,921,263
2.206,840.895
0,438,043,942
1,731,046,077

2,187,391,794.409

2,205,689,908.842
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31.

32.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Financial income

Interest income from deposits and loans

Gains from disposal of other investment

Interest from credit sales and early payment discounts
Dividend income

Realised foreign exchange gains

Unrealised foreign exchange gains

Selling expenses

Labour costs and staff costs

Raw materials costs

Depreciation and amortisation

Support, advertising and sample products expenses
Outside services

Office tools and supplies

Other expenses in cash

33. General and administration expenses

Labour costs and staff costs
Raw materials costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of goodwill
Taxes. fees and charges
Outside services

Other cash expenses

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued wnder Cirenlar No. 2022014/ TT-BTC

2024
VYND

189,569,019,846
15.867.664,000
4,409,659,958

186,981,496
5,521,500

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2023
VYND

259,502,821,127

5,812,874,004
7,834,000
1,012,246,440

210,038,846,800

266,335.775,571

2024
VND

48,205,513,850
163,504,334
1,167,848.671
569,677,944,286
34,098.591,109
6.413,608.165
20,726,909,593

2023
VND

46,109.451,001
222,107,273
1,103,682,148
620,243,359,149
37,588,237.437
5,423,520,449
14,990,098.677

680,453,920,008

725,680,456,134

2024
VND

47,456,016,091
1,786,934,838
8,737,342,828
46,092,371,805
4,160,263.859
27,853,650,721
19,005,886,019

2023
VND

42,872,355,560
1,529,987.494
8.661.024.248
46,092,371,805
2,988.385.865
22,962,266,613
18.344.821,157

155,092,466,161

143,451,212,742
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

34. Other income

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets

Penalties and compensation received
Others

35. Other expenses

Net book value of fixed assets disposed
Depreciation expense of fixed assets
Vaccination for cows at households
Others

36. Production and business costs by element

Raw materials costs

Support and advertising expenses
Labour costs and staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of goodwill
Outside services

Other cash expenses

Form B 09 - DN/HN

{Isswed under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

2024 2023

VND VND
7,510,976,553 3.432,233,455
30,797,233 115,290,903
8,801,837,230 13,920,546,226
16.343,611,016 17,468,070,584

2024 2023

VND VND
16,199,754,250 10,438,624.551
169,871,792 342,795,660
2,607.,466.490

5.317,187.443

5,972,230,879

21,686,813,485 19.361,117,580
2024 2023
VYND VND

1,931.814,601,212

566,545,547.023
180,215,848.928
134,623,973.449
46.092,371,805
142,783,538.100
82.981.616.945

1,943,257.661,282

616,405,087.689
165,787,173.421
129,164.156,803
46,092.371,805
122,728.578.381
66,136.045.530
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37.

(a)

(b)

(©)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Civeular No, 20220014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Income tax

Recognised in the consolidated statement of income

2023
VND

51,858,741,460

51,858,741,460

2024

VND
Current tax expense
Current year 35,059,600,574
Under provision in prior years 191,654,890

35,251,255,464

Deferred tax benefit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (14,092,660,655)

(13,662,933,640)

21,158.594,809

38,195.807,820

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2023
VND

327,303,922,477

2024

VND
Accounting profit before tax 138,208,828,263
Tax at the Corporation’s tax rate 27,641,765,653
Tax exempt income (18,485,750,402)
Non-taxable income -
Non-deductible expenses 9,518,943,255
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 2,291,981,413
Tax losses utilised -
Under provision in prior years 191,654,890

65,460,784,495
(36,750,877,088)
(1,566,800)
13,646,203,974
347,571,285
(4,506,308,046)

21,158,594,809

38,195,807,820

Applicable tax rates

Under the terms of its Investment Registration Certificate and the current Law on Corporate Income
Tax, the Corporation and its subsidiaries have an obligation to pay the government income tax at the

rate of 20% of taxable profits.
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38.
(2)

*)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN
{Issued wnder Circular No, 20220014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

In addition, in accordance with Decree No. 12/2015/ND-CP dated 12 February 2015 of the
Government on elaboration of the law on amendments to tax laws and amendments to some articles
of decrees on taxations, the Corporation’s subsidiary is exempted from income tax for incomes from
farming, breeding, aquaculture, agro-processing, fish processing in extremely disadvantaged areas.
Income from agro-processing. fish processing eligible for tax incentives prescribed in this Decree
must satisfy all of the conditions below:

- The proportion of value of raw materials (farm produce, aquaculture products) to production cost
is at least 30%:; and

- Products derived from agro-processing, fish processing are not subject to special excise tax, unless
otherwise prescribed by the Prime Minister according to proposals of the Ministry of Finance.

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 was based on the
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders after deducting the amounts appropriated to Bonus and
welfare fund and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

2024 2023
Net profit for the year (VND) 54,135,679,570 156.,602,643.770
Appropriation to Bonus and welfare fund (VND) (*) (13,041,301,796)  (30.,082,194.673)
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (VND) 41,094,377,774  126,520,449,097
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year
(number of shares) 212,491,611 183,564,898
Basic earnings per share (VND/share) 193 689

At 31 December 2024, the Corporation made appropriation to the bonus and welfare fund for the year
ended 31 December 2024 based on the consolidated profits attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Corporation for the year 2023,

At 31 December 2024, the Corporation had no diluted potential ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2024 2023
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 212,491,611 172,346,173
Effect of treasury shares newly issued during the year - 11,218,725
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year 212,491,611 183.564.898
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39.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN

(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Significant transactions with related parties

In addition to related party balances disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Corporation and its subsidiaries had the following significant transactions with related parties

during the year:

The parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company
Sales of goods and services

Purchase of goods and services

Purchase of fixed assets

Dividends

Sales of fixed assets

Advance payment for office rent

Other related companies
Vietnam Dairy Cow One-member Company Limited
Purchase of goods and services

Thong Nhat Thanh Hoa Dairy Cow Company Limited
Purchase of goods

Hanoi Peter Hand Animal Developing Co., Ltd,
Purchase of goods
Income from profit sharing

Key management personnel compensation

Members of Board of Directors

Total remuneration

Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach — Member

Mr. Le Thanh Liem — Member

Mr. Do Hoang Phuc — Member

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — Member (from 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — Member (until 23/4/2023)
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — Member (until 27/4/2023)

Transaction value

2024
VND

572,830,389,827
30.023,208,648
4,295.,170,594
107,366,205,000
3,920,351,174
470,869,092

78.,848,054,533

2023
VND

425,263,034,815
30,445,101,138

89,788.080,000

81,553,115,528

3,580,765,415 =
14,450,300,000 14,045,105,000
1,800,000,000 -
2024 2023

VND Million  VND Million

384 384

96 96

96 96

96 96

66 -

30 64

- 32
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
flssued under Circular No. 202:2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND Million VND Million

Board of Management

Total remuneration 1,236 1,120
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — General Director 650 129
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — General Director

(from 1/5/2023 to 19/10/2023) - 281
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — General Director (until 1/5/2023) - 242
Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam — Deputy General Director

(from 1/3/2024) 271 -
Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram— Deputy General Director

(from 1/10/2024) 265 -
Mr. Tran Chi Son — Deputy General Director (until 29/2/2024) 50 346
Mr. Nguyen Dang Khoa — Deputy General Director

(until 25/4/2023) - 122
Supervisory Board

Total remuneration 240 240
Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran — Head of Supervisory Board

(from 23/4/2024) 66 -
Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu — Head of Supervisory Board

(until 23/4/2024) 30 96
Mr. Trinh Cong Son — Member 72 72
Mr. Truong Anh Vu — Member 72 72

40. Non-cash investing activities

2024 2023

VND VND
Offsetting advance of fund to livestock households and
payables for purchase of milk 23,754,400,000 37.,360,235,562
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41.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
fIssued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Comparative information

Comparative information as at | January 2024 was derived from the balances and amounts reported
in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

20 March 2025

Prepared by: Reviewed by’
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam ozt
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Corporate Information

Establishing Documents

Board of Directors

Board of Management

Supervisory Board

Registered Office

Auditor

Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the Minister
of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring
of entities affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development.

The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam Livestock Corporation
— Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14
December 2012 of the Prime Minister.

Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443 was initially
issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June
2010. The Enterprise Registration Certificate has been amended
several times, the most recent of which is dated 16 November 2023
(the 12" amendment).

Ms. Mai Kieu Lien Chairman
Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach ~ Member
Mr. Le Thanh Liem Member
Mr. Do Hoang Phuc Member

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh Member (from 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam Member (until 23/4/2024)

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh General Director
Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam Deputy General Director (from 1/3/2024)

Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram Deputy General Director (from 1/10/2024)

Mr. Tran Chi Son Deputy General Director (until 1/3/2024)

Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran Head of Supervisory Board (from 23/4/2024)

Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu Head of Supervisory Board (until 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Cong Son Member
Mr. Truong Anh Vu Member

519 Minh Khai, Vinh Tuy Ward
Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi
Vietnam
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Statement of the Board of Management

The Board of Management of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the
Corporation™) presents this statement and the accompanying separate financial statements of the
Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards,

2

the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable 3

to financial reporting. In the opinion of the Corporation’s Board of Management: .

M

(a) the separate financial statements set out on pages 5 to 34 give a true and fair view of the N
unconsolidated financial position of the Corporation as at 31 December 2024, and of its

unconsolidated results of operations and its unconsolidated cash flows for the year then ended i

in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for %
Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial reporting; and

(b)  at the date of this statement, there is no reason to believe that the Corporation will not be able to
pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Management has, on the date of this statement, authorised the accompanying separate
financial statements for issue.

L <8 1

A=

Doan Quoc Khanh
General Director

Py

Hanoi, 20 March 2025



kPMG

KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation”), which comprise the separate balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the separate statements of income and cash flows for the year
then ended and the explanatory notes thereto which were authorised for issue by the Corporation’s
Board of Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 5 to 34.

Management’s Responsibility

The Corporation's Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of these separate financial statements in accordance with Viethamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these separated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Viethamese Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the separated financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s Board of Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Limited, a Vietnamese one member limited liability company and a member firm of the 3
KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited,
a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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KPMG!

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the separate financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects,
of the unconsolidated financial position of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
as at 31 December 2024 and of its unconsolidated results of operations and its unconsolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Viethamese Accounting Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting.

KPMG Limited
Vietnam
Audil.Rep

,l:’“'E\_A' -\?
Pham=rR=Fhuy Linh Phan My Linh
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Current assets
(100 =110 + 120 + 130 + 140 + 150)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash
Cash equivalents

Short-term financial investments
Held-to-maturity investments

Accounts receivable — short-term
Accounts receivable from customers
Prepayments to suppliers
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

Inventories
Inventories

Other current assets
Short-term prepaid expenses
Deductible value added tax
Taxes and others receivable from
State Treasury

Code

100

110
111
112

120
123

130
131
132
136
137

140
141

150
151
152

153

Form B 01 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Note 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

224,838,518,786  1,087,144,663,626
4 20,181,137,661 618,962,235,939
10,181,137,661 92,062,235,939
10,000,000,000 526,900,000,000
153,000,000,000 270,100,000,000
5(a) 153,000,000,000 270,100,000,000
25,283,731,907 189,499,839,279
6 2,935,187,095 2,035,948,436
7 21,255,583,220 187,858,182,045
8 6,539,436,592 3,565,783,798
9 (5,446,475,000) (3.960,075,000)
37,870,000 37,870,000
37,870,000 37,870,000
26,335,779,218 8,544,718,408
94,446,469 70,451,015
9,939,390,223 4,262,889,860
14(a) 16,301,942,526 4211,377,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Long-term assets
(200 = 220 + 240 + 250 + 260)

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Intangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Long-term work in progress
Long-term work in progress
Construction in progress

Long-term financial investments
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associates, joint ventures
Equity investments in other entities
Allowance for diminution in the value
of long-term financial investments

Other long-term assets
Long-term prepaid expenses

TOTAL ASSETS
(270 = 100 + 200)

Code

200

220
221
222
223
229
228
229

240
24]
242

250
251
252
253
254

260
261

270

Form B 01 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024
VND

Note

4,029,092,711,001

6,218,974,765
10 6,172,792,842
50,856,104,929
(44,683,312,087)

46,181,923

686,582,000

(640,400,077

1,231,834,988,560
11 1,165,741,588,073
12 66,093,400,487

5(b) 2,790,844,022,182
2,623,904,636,965
238,833,528,842
22,294,812,327

(94,188,955,952)

194,725,494
194,725,494

1/1/2024
VND

2,172,193,736,583

7,293,803,865
7,165,761,278
52,163,271,431
(44,997,510,153)
128,042,587
686,582,000
(558,539,413)

121,179,086,173
121,179,086,173
2,043,505,433,408
1,872,011,636,965
238,833,528,842
29,761,912,327
(97,101,644,726)

215,413,137
215,413,137

4,253,931,229,787

3,259,338,400,209

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

RESOURCES
LIABILITIES (300 = 310)

Current liabilities
Accounts payable to suppliers
Advances from customers
Taxes and others payable to
State Treasury
Payables to employees
Accrued expenses
Other payables — short-term
Provisions — short-term
Bonus and welfare fund

EQUITY (400 = 410)

Owners’ equity
Share capital
- Ordinary shares with voting rights
Share premium
Investment and development fund
Retained profits
- Retained profits brought forward
- Profit for the current year

TOTAL RESOURCES
(440 = 300 + 400)

Prepared by:

/;%/W/f

Hoang Manh Cuong
Chief Accountant

Form B 01 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Code Note 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
300 1,256,546,587,592 277,090,989,534
310 1,256,546,587,592 277,090,989,534
311 13 197,666,584,947 27,010,706,306
312 1,469,893,000 1,469,893,000
313 14(b) 3,310,245,495 3,042,292,002
314 1,134,250,815 1,164,592,012
315 15 33,191,943,752 270,000,000
319 16 971,018,576,706 193,224,868,189
321 17 2.461,920,000 2,232,994,560
322 18 46,293,172,877 48,675,643,465
400 2,997,384,642,195 2,982,247,410,675
410 19 2,997,384,642,195 2,982,247,410,675
411 20 2,124,916,110,000 2,124,916,110,000
41la 2,124,916,110,000 2,124,916,110,000
412 396,702,829,230 396,702,829,230
418 22 80,559,835,691 96,318,310,288
421 395,205,867,274 364,310,161,157
421a 252,573,669,152 230,363,127,084
421b 142,632,198,122 133,947,034,073
440 4,253,931,229,787 3,259,338,400,209
20 March 2025
Reviewed by:
© CTP _
Py,
Nguyen Duc Nam N\& 75— 71 2BP6an Quoc Khanh
Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements




Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Separate statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 02 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code  Note VND VND
Revenue from provision of services 01 24 5,137,120,485 3,931,337,382
Cost of services rendered 11 25 3,696,021,831 2,206,840,895 ;
Gross profit (20 =01 - 11) 20 1,441,098,654 1,724,496,487 p
Financial income 21 26 160,331,752,572 176,528,087,646 [
Financial expenses 22 27 (2,912,688,774) (1,261,697,575)
General and administration expenses 26 28 19,472,611,168 18,267,559,735 )
#
Net operating profit
(30=20+21 - 22 - 26) 30 145,212,928,832 161,246,721,973
Other income 31 29 1,832,011,670 1,259,231,735
Other expenses 32 30 1,297,561,891 2,224,761,844
Results of other activities
(40 = 31 - 32) 40 534,449,779 (965,530,109)
Accounting profit before tax
(50 = 30 + 40) 50 145,747,378,611 160,281,191,864
Income tax expense — current 51 32 3,115,180,489 2,696,445,896 (‘
[
Net profit after tax - 7
(60 = 50 - 51) 60 142,632,198,122 157,584,745,968
il
1
“Z
20 March 2025 \
Prepared by: Reviewed by,
2 .
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam & AUNG - "w Quoc Khanh
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Separate statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method)

Code

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for
Depreciation
Allowances and provisions
Profits from investing activities

Operating loss before changes in
working capital

Change in receivables
Change in payables and other liabilities
Change in prepaid expenses

Income tax paid
Other payments for operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

01
02

03
05

08

09
11
12

15
17

20

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for additions to fixed assets
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and
other long-term assets

Payments for placement of term deposits
Receipts from withdrawal of term deposits
Payments for investments in other entities
Collections on investments in other entities
Receipts of interests and dividends

Net cash flows from investing activities

21

22
23
24
25
26
il

30

Form B 03 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024
VND

145,747,378,611

2,306,258,808
(1,197,363,334)
(160,746,582,538)

2023
VND

160,281,191,864

1,288,982,591
(1,032,772,135)
(176,080,705,739)

(13,890,308,453)

154,035,921,486
(102,881,888,753)

(15,543,303,419)

7,968,241,871
48,743,608,408

(3.307,811) 270,865,556
37,260,416,469 41,439,412,416
(6,944,256,577) (1,779,490,058)
(2,382,470,588) (1,618,846,691)
27,933,689,304 38,041,075,667

(32,184,414,029)  (139,804,049,750)
414,829,966 204,545,455

(283,000,000,000)  (570,100,000,000)

400,100,000,000 966,000,000,000

(751,893,000,000)  (351,900,000,000)
23,334,764,000 -

143,953,012,681 192,440,014,222

(499,274,807,382) 96,840,509,927

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Indirect method - continued)

Form B 03 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Cod 2024 2023
ode VND VND
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from equity issued or capital
contributed by owners 31 - 561,415,232,000
Payments of dividends 36 (127,439,980,200) (103,407,703,800)
Net cash flows from financing activities 40 (127,439,980,200) 458,007,528,200
Net cash flows during the year
(50 = 20 + 30 + 40) 50 (598,781,098,278) 592,889,113,794
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 60 618,962,235,939 26,073,122,145
of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year (70 = 50 + 60) (Note 4) 70 20,181,137,661 ﬁ962,235,939

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by;
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyéen Duc Nam
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
10
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying separate
financial statements.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation” or “VLC”), whose
predecessor was Vietnam Livestock Corporation affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development, was established under Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring of entities affiliated to
the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development. The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam
Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14 December
2012 of the Prime Minister and operates under Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443
initially issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June 2010 and its 12
amendment dated 16 November 2023,

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Corporation are:
- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;
- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds;
- Processing milk and dairy products;
- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products;
- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Normal operating cycle

The normal operating cycle of the Corporation is generally within 12 months.

Corporation structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had 2 subsidiaries and 5 associates (1/1/2024: 2 subsidiaries
and 5 associates) as listed in Note 5(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had 32 employees (1/1/2024: 33 employees).

11
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 —- DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting. The Corporation prepares and issues its consolidated financial
statements separately. For a comprehensive understanding of the Corporation’s consolidated financial
position, its consolidated results of operations and its consolidated cash flows, these separate financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The separate financial statements, except for the separate statement of cash flows, are prepared on the
accrual basis using the historical cost concept. The separate statement of cash flows is prepared using
the indirect method.

Annual accounting period

The annual accounting period of the Corporation is from 1 January to 31 December.

Accounting and presentation currency

The Corporation’s accounting currency is Vietnam Dong (“VND”), which is also the currency used
for financial statement presentation purpose. All amounts have been presented in VND, unless
otherwise noted.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation in the preparation
of these separate financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

Investments

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are those that the Corporation’s Board of General Directors has the
intention and ability to hold until maturity. Held-to-maturity investments represent deposits at banks.
These investments are stated at costs less allowance for doubtful debts.

12
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(i)

(c)

(d)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

For the purpose of these separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities are initially recognised at cost which include purchase price plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are stated at cost less
allowance for diminution in value. An allowance is made for diminution in investment value if the
investee has suffered a loss which may cause the Corporation to lose its invested capital, unless there
is evidence that the value of the investment has not been diminished. The allowance is reversed if the
investee subsequently made a profit that offsets the previous loss for which the allowance had been
made. An allowance is reversed only to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Equity investments in other entities

Investments in equity instruments of other entities are initially recognised at cost which include
purchase price plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
investments are stated at cost less allowance for diminution in value. An allowance is made for
diminution in investment values if the investee has suffered a loss which may cause the Corporation
to lose its invested capital, unless there is evidence that the value of the investment has not been
diminished. The allowance is reversed if the investee subsequently made a profit that offsets the
previous loss for which the allowance had been made. An allowance is reversed only to the extent that
the investment’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a a weighted
average basis and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost in the case of finished goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct labour
and attributable manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of
inventory items, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to sell.

The Corporation applies the perpetual method of accounting for inventories.

13
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of a tangible
fixed asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after tangible fixed assets have been put into operation, such as repair,
maintenance and overhaul cost, is charged to the separate statement of income in the year in which the
cost is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of tangible fixed
assets beyond their originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of tangible fixed
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

= Buildings and structures 5 — 30 years
= Plant and equipment 5 —10 years
* Transportation and transmission 5 — 10 years
=  Office equipment 3 — 8 years

Intangible fixed assets

Software

Cost of acquiring new software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is capitalised and
treated as an intangible asset. Software cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period from 2
to 5 years.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of tangible fixed assets which have not been fully
completed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the period of construction.

Long-term prepaid expenses

Tools and instruments

Tools and instruments include assets held for use by the Corporation in the normal course of business
whose costs of individual items are less than VND30 million and therefore not qualified for recognition
as fixed assets under prevailing regulations. Cost of tools and instruments are amortised on a straight-
line basis over a period ranging from 2 to 3 years.

Other long-term prepaid expenses

Other long-term prepaid expenses comprise expenses for periodic renovation, repair, billboards rental
which are recognised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from 2 to 3
years.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

Provision

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are stated at issue price less any costs directly attributable to the issue of shares, net
of tax effects. These costs are recognised as a deduction from share premium.

Taxation

Income tax on the unconsolidated profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the separate statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at
the end of the annual accounting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using the tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the annual accounting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will

be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Revenue and other income

Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statement of income in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
performed. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the
consideration due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis with reference to the principal outstanding
and the applicable interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Share dividends are
not recognised as income. Dividends received which are attributable to the period before investment
acquisition date are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the separate statement of income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the separate statement
of income as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Corporation if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions, or where the Corporation and the other party are subject to common control or
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities and include close family
members of any individual considered to be a related party.

Related companies refer to the parent company and the subsidiaries and associates of the Corporation
and of the parent company.

Comparative information

Comparative information in these separate financial statements is presented as corresponding figures.
Under this method, comparative information for the prior year is included as an integral part of the
current year separate financial statements and are intended to be read only in relation to the amounts
and other disclosures relating to the current year. Accordingly, the comparative information included
in these separate financial statements is not intended to present the Corporation’s unconsolidated
financial position, results of operation or cash flows for the prior year.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Cash in banks
Cash equivalents (*)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

31/12/2024
VND

10,181,137,661
10,000,000,000

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

1/1/2024
VND

4,488,719
92,057,747,220
526,900,000,000

20,181,137,661

618,962,235,939

As at 31 December 2024, cash equivalents represent the deposits in VND at commercial banks with

original terms not exceeding 3 months.

Investments

Held-to-maturity investments

Saigon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank
Ho Chi Minh City Development Joint Stock
Commercial Bank

31/12/2024
VND

153,000,000,000

1/1/2024
VND

60,000,000,000

210,100,000,000

153,000,000,000

270,100,000,000
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

The voting rights percentage of the Corporation at Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is less than 20%.
However, the Corporation’s Board of Management assesses that the Corporation has significant
influences on Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC because a member of the Corporation’s Board of
Management is a member of the Board of Management of Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC. Therefore,
the investment in Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is presented in Investments in associates.

The Corporation has not determined fair values of these investments for disclosure in the separate
financial statements because information about their market prices is not available or their trading
volume in the market is low and there is currently no guidance on determination of fair value using
valuation techniques under the Vietnamese Accounting Standards and the Vietnamese Accounting
System for enterprises. The fair values of these investments may differ from their carrying amounts.

Accounts receivable from customers

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited 616,616,951 177,277,680
Moc Chau Dairy Cattle Breeding Joint Stock Company 75,036,732 139,955,959
Other parties
TNS Vietnam Development Joint Stock Company 1,731,465,441 1,269,707,441
Cat Linh Construction Materials Import-Export
Joint Stock Company 239,000,000 239,000,000
Other customers 273,067,971 210,007,356

2,935,187,095 2,035,948.,436

The trade related amounts due from the related parties were unsecured, interest free and are due in 30
days from invoice date.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Prepayments to suppliers

31/12/2024
VND

Maeda Vietnam Co., Ltd (*) 10,333,826,230
Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and

Trade Corporation (*) -
Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company (*) -
SMOSA Vietnam Technology Joint Stock Company (*) -
DMC - VTS Joint Venture Co., Ltd 3,721,075,000
Others 7.200,681,990

1/1/2024
VND

122,195,632,115

25,867,523,065
20,949,748,627
13,706,216,084
3,721,075,000
1,417,987,154

21,255,583,220

187,858,182,045

These advances were made in relation to the investment project for farm renovation, conversion from
raising pigs to raising beef cattle, construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution

facility in Tam Dao District, Vinh Phuc Province (“the Tam Dao Project”).

Other receivables

1/1/2024
VND

528,800,000
1,185,389,863
623,112,310
1,228,481,625

31/12/2024
VND
Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited 2.519,262,880
Other parties
Dividends and share of profit receivable 528,800,000
Accrued interest income from term deposits 1,696,465,754
Receivables from employees 454,248,646
Other receivables 1,340,659,312
6,539.436,592

3,565,783,798

The non-trade related amounts due from the related company were unsecured, interest free and are

receivable upon demand.
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12.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Long-term work in progress

Long-term work in progress represents costs of construction relating to the Tam Dao project. Under
the Investment Framework Agreement (“IFA™) dated 5 September 2022 and its amendment dated 24
September 2024 between the Corporation, Sojitz Corporation (the second investor of JVL — a
subsidiary of the Corporation), Viet Nam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company (the parent company
of the Corporation), and JVL, the Corporation plans to transfer the Tam Dao Project to JVL after the
Tam Dao project construction is completed and meets the specified condition precedent for transfer.

Construction in progress

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 121,179,086,173 10,271,530,741
Additions during the year 1,111,887,332,095 110,907,555,432
Transfer to long-term work in progress (1,166,973,017,781) -
Closing balance 66,093,400,487 121,179,086,173

Major constructions in progress were as follows:
31/12/2024 1/1/2024

VND VND
The Tam Dao project - 85,652,152,713
Hung Yen Dairy Factory Project 63,428,745,942 32,862,278,915
VILICO Tower Construction Project 2,664,654,545 2,664,654,545

66,093,400,487 121,179,086,173
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13.

14.

(a)

]

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Accounts payable to suppliers

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Cost and amount within payment

capacity

Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited

Third parties

No. 52 Hanoi Housing Investment and Development
Joint Stock Company

Maeda Vietnam Company Limited

Thai Son Corporation

Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and Trade
Corporation

Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company

Vietnam SMOSA Technology Joint Stock Company
Other suppliers

31/12/2024
VND

1,359,900

64,580,081,893
11,515,780,505

59,463,066,884
28,651,123,677
27,983,983,281

5,471,188,807

1/1/2024
VND

1,359,900

22,922,737,736
2,560,507,506

1,526,101,164

197,666,584,947

27,010,706,306

The trade related amounts due to the subsidiary were unsecured, interest free and are payable upon

demand.

Taxes and others receivable from/payable to State Treasury

Taxes and others receivable from State Treasury

Output value added tax
Corporate income tax (*)
Other taxes

1/1/2024
VND

1,782,061,680
1,176,384,728
1253531 125

Incurred
VND

6,341,151,247
6,944,256,577

Paid/offset
VND

(1,194,842,831)

31/12/2024
VND

8,123,212,927
8,120,641,305
58,088,294

4.411.377,533

13,285,407,824

(1,194,842,831)

16,301,942,526

During the year, the Corporation temporarily paid corporate income tax related to the advances of JVL
for the transfer of the Tam Dao Project.
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(b)

15.

16.

(*)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Taxes and others payable to State Treasury

1/1/2024 Incurred Paid/offset 31/12/2024
VND VND VND VND
Value added tax 2,183,829,839 67,062,876,456 (69,217,520,297) 29,185,998
Personal income tax 201,683,155 2,729,711,857 (2,765,516,004) 165,879,008
Corporate income tax - 3,115,180,489 - 3,115,180,489
Land and housing taxes
and land rental 656,779,008 3,937,033,056 (4,593,812,064) -

3,042,292,002 76,844,801,858 (76,576,848,365) 3,310,245,495 "

Accrued expenses — short-term

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Accrued construction costs 32,995,943,752 -
Others 196,000,000 270,000,000
33,191,943,752 270,000,000
Other payables
31/12/2024 1/1/2024 ‘3
VND VND "
4
Advances from JVL for the Tam Dao project (*) 964,858,573,817 177,949,005.870 JHy
Trade union fees 98,118,214 153,579,880 '
Short-term deposits and collaterals received 187,000,000 43,300,000 .
Dividend payables 223,406,130 168,419,730 ﬁ
Others 5,651,478,545  14,910,562,709 o

971,018,576,706  193,224,868,189

These are advances made by JVL to the Corporation for construction of Tam Dao Project under the
IFA dated 5 September 2022 (Note 11). The project will be transferred to JVL upon completion of all
condition precedent specified in the contract.
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18.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)
Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Short-term provisions

Provision for land rental is temporarily calculated using the unit price issued by the People’s
Committee of Ho Chi Minh City for the period from July 2013 to 31 December 2018 because there is

no lease contract and land rental payment notice for the land as a basis for determining obligations to
the State budget.

Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is established by appropriating from profit after tax as approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. This fund is used to pay bonus and welfare to the Corporation’s employees in accordance

with the Corporation’s bonus and welfare policies. Movements of bonus and welfare fund during the
year were as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 48,675,643,465 42,415,252,858
Appropriation - 1879237298
Utilisation (2,382,470,588) (1,618,846,691)
Closing balance 46,293,172,877 48,675,643,465
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20.

21.

22,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)
Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Share capital

The Corporation’s authorised and issued share capital are:
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Number of Number of
shares VND shares VND

Authorised share capital 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

The parent company of the Corporation is Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company, a company
established in Vietnam.

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at meetings of
the Corporation. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard to the Corporation’s residual assets.

Dividends

The Corporation’s General Meeting of Shareholders on 23 April 2024 approved the distribution of
dividends of 2023 amounting to VND127,495 million (equivalent to VND600 per share) (2023:
VND103,408 million (equivalent to VND600 per share)).

Investment and development fund

Investment and development fund was appropriated from profit after tax in accordance with the
resolution of General Meeting of Shareholders. This fund was established for the purpose of future
business expansion

In 2024, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved not to appropriate the Investment and
Development fund from profit after tax of 2023. Accordingly, the Board of Management and the Board
of General Directors of the Corporation reversed the provisional allocation of the Investment and
Development fund made in 2023.
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23,

(a)

(b)

24.

25,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Off balance sheet items

Leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Within one year 10,025,412,985 2.889.277.638
Within two to five years 34,096,078,378 0,221,817,941
More than five years 262,395,603,210 32,119,055,327

306,517,094,573 44,230,150,906

Capital expenditure commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had the following outstanding capital commitments
approved but not provided for in the balance sheet:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Approved but not contracted 2,557,850,468,848  2,544,512,832,403
Approved and contracted 1,449,594,557,133  1,306,731,344,484

4,007,445,025,981  3,851,244,176,887

Revenue from provision of services

2024 2023

VND VND
Provision of services 5,137,120,485 3,931,337,382
Cost of sales

2024 2023

VND VND
Cost of services provided 3,696,021,831 2,206,840,895
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26.

27,

28.

29.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Financial income

Dividend income
Interest income from deposits and loans
Gains from disposal of other investment

Financial expenses

Reversal of allowance for investments

General and administration expenses

Staff costs
Depreciation

Taxes, fees and charges
Outside services

Other cash expenses

Other income

Gain from disposals of fixed assets
Others

2024
VND

132,259,942,000
12,204,146,572
15,867,664,000

2023
VND

130,459,942,000
46,068,145,646

160,331,752,572

176,528,087,646

2024
VND

(2,912,688,774)

2023
VND

(1,261,697,575)

2024
VND

9,777,079,338

445,324,764
1,571,301,911
4,539,999,551
3,138,905,604

2023
VND

9,835,220,996
452,344,630
540,157,074
4,601,480,267
2,838,356,768

19,472,611,168 18,267,559,735
2024 2023
VND VND

414,829,966 204,545,455

1,417,181,704 1,054,686,280

1,832,011,670

1,259,251,735
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30.

31.

32.

(a)

(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Other expenses

Depreciation expense of temporarily idle assets

Net book value of fixed assets disposed
Others

Business costs by element

Staff costs
Depreciation
Outside services
Other expenses

Income tax

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Accounting profit before tax

Tax at the Corporation’s tax rate
Non-deductible expenses

Tax exempt income

Tax losses utilised

Applicable tax rates

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

2024
VND

169,871,792

1,127,690,099

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2023
VND

342,795,660
651,927,362
1,230,038,822

1,297,561,891

2,224,761,844

2024
VND

9,815,233,578
2,136,387,016
4,501,845311

2023
VND

9,961,940,665
946,186,931
5,175,861,748

6,715,167,094 4,047,615,626
2024 2023
VND VND
145,747,378,611 160,281,191,864
29,149,475,722 32,056,238,373
417,693,167 432,472,972
(26,451,988,400)  (26,091,988,400)
- (3,700,277,049)
3,115,180,489 2,696,445,896

Under the current Law on Corporate Income Tax, the Corporation has an obligation to pay the

government income tax at the rate of 20% of taxable profits.
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33.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Significant transactions with related parties

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

In addition to related party balances disclosed in other notes to the separate financial statements, the
Corporation had the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:

Parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company
Dividends paid

Increase of capital contribution by purchasing shares

Subsidiaries

Moc Chau Dairy Cattle Breeding Joint Stock Company

Sales of goods and services
Dividends received

Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited
Capital contribution

Advance for project transfer

Sales of goods and services

Purchase of goods

Vietham Dairy Cow One-member Company Limited
Purchase of goods, raw materials

Associates
Hanoi Peter Hand Animal Developing Co., Ltd.
Income from profit sharing

Key management personnel compensation

Members of Board of Directors

Total remuneration

Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach — Member

Mr. Le Thanh Liem — Member

Mr. Do Hoang Phuc — Member

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — Member (from 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — Member (until 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — Member (until 27/4/2023)

Transaction value

2024
VND

87,890,625,000

2023
VND

70,312,500,000
410,156,250,000

838,789,288 725,703,982
130,459,942,000  130,459,942,000
751,893,000,000  351,900,000,000
786,909,567,947 45,949,005,870

1,638,225,329 348,357,769
63,023,108 33,033,462
83,367,000 -

1,800,000,000 -
2024 2023

VND Million VND Million

384 384

96 96

96 96

96 96

66 -

30 64

- 32
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND Million VND Million

Board of Management

Total remuneration 1,236 1,120

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — General Director 650 129

Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — General Director

(from 1/5/2023 to 19/10/2023) - 281

Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — General Director (until 1/5/2023) - 242

Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam - Deputy General Director

(from 1/3/2024) 271 -

Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram - Deputy General Director

(from 1/10/2024) 265 -

Mr. Tran Chi Son — Deputy General Director (until 29/2/2024) 50 346

Mr. Nguyen Dang Khoa — Deputy General Director y
(until 25/4/2023) - 122 *
Supervisory Board

Total remuneration 240 240

Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran — Head of. Supervisory Board

(from 23/4/2024) 66 -

Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu — Head of Supervisory Board

(until 23/4/2024) 30 96

Mr. Trinh Cong Son — Member 72 72

Mr. Truong Anh Vu — Member 72 72

34. Comparative information

Comparative information as at | January 2024 was derived from the balances and amounts reported in
the Corporation’s separate financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by:
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyeén Duc Nam Do
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Corporate Information

Establishing Documents

Board of Directors

Board of Management

Supervisory Board

Registered Office

Auditor

Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to
restructuring of entities affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture &
Rural Development.

The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-
TTg dated 14 December 2012 of the Prime Minister.

Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443 was initially
issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June
2010. The Enterprise Registration Certificate has been amended
several times, the most recent of which is dated 16 November 2023
(the 12" amendment).
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Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram Deputy General Director (from 1/10/2024)
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kPMG

KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietham
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of
40,145,438 ordinary shares of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the
Corporation”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 and explanatory notes thereto (“the Report
on Utilization of Capital’) which was authorised for issue by the Corporation's Board of
Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 4 to 7.

Management’s Responsibility

The Company’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Report on Utilization of Capital in accordance with Note 2 to the Report on Utilization of Capital,
and for such internal control as Board of Management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the Report on Utilization of Capital that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the Report on Utilization of Capital is free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Report on Utilization of Capital. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Report
on Utilization of Capital, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation
of the Report on Utilization of Capital in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies adopted and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s
Board of Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Report on Utilization
of Capital.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Limited, a Viethamese one member limited liability company and a member firm of the
KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited,
a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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KPMG

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the financial information in the Report on Utilization of Capital of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described
in Note 2 to the Report on Utilization of Capital.

Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the accompanying Report on
Utilization of Capital which describes the basis of accounting for preparation of the Report on
Utilization of Capital. This Report on Utilization of Capital is intended for the Corporation’s Board
of Management to report to the State Securities Commission, Hanoi Stock Exchange, the Board
of Management and shareholders of the Corporation. As a result, the Report on Utilization of
Capital may not be suitable for other purposes. Our audit report is intended solely for the
Corporation and its Board of Management, and should not be used for any other purposes.

KPMG Limited

C 2

Py
Pham Thi Thuy Linh Phan My Linh
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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II.

(a)

(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Pursuant to the provisions of Decree 155/2020/ND-CP detailing the implementation of a number of articles
of the Law on Securities, Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation®) is
pleased to report the utilization of capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as follows:

General information about the issuance

1. Name of valuable papers : Ordinary shares

2. Currency : Vietnamese Dong (VND)

3. Total issued shares : 40,145,438 shares

4. Par value : VND10,000/share

5. Form of issuance : Public offering of shares to existing shareholders
6. Total proceeds from the issuance : VND562,036,132,000

Official Letter No. 6332/UBCK-QLCB dated 21 September 2023 of the State Securities Commission on
the results of the public offering of shares.

Report on Utilization of Capital

According to Resolution No. 09/2024/VLC/NQ-HDQT dated 20 March 2024, the Board of Management
of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company has approved the plan to use the proceeds from
the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares to increase the Corporation’s capital contribution in Japan
Vietnam Livestock Company Limited — a joint venture company of the Corporation and Sojitz Group of
Japan, thereby, Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited will implement the beef cattle breeding
project and the slaughter, processing and preservation of beef and beef products (“the Beef Cattle Project™).

The beef cattle project consists of two component projects as follows:

The project “Investment for farm renovation, conversion from raising pigs to raising beef cattle,
construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution facility in Tam Dao” based in Tam Dao
District and Binh Xuyen District of Vinh Phuc Province, was granted the Investment Policy Decision No.
2216/QD-UBND dated 12 August 2021 by the People's Committee of Vinh Phuc Province, while the
Corporation was approved as the investment owner of the project, with a total expected investment of
VNDI,670 billion (“Tam Dao Project”). Tam Dao Project is the main component of the Beef Cattle
Project, whereby the Corporation shall be the investment owner of the Tam Dao Project until the
construction is completed and meets the conditions for project transfer in accordance with the current law,
then the Corporation shall transfer the Tam Dao Project to Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited for
further implementation and operation; and

Breeding and fattening facilities for beef cattle to supplement the Tam Dao Project.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Report on Utilization of Capital
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Report
on Utilization of Capital.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation™) is incorporated as a joint
stock company in Vietnam.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Corporation are as follows:

- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;

- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds;

- Processing milk and dairy products;

- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products;

- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation in the preparation
of this Report.

Statement of compliance

The Report on Utilization of Capital comprises financial information relating to the utilization of capital
from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 and is part of the document submitted to the Corporation's Board of Management to report to the
State Securities Commission, Hanoi Stock Exchange, the Board of Management and shareholders of
the Corporation.

The Report has been made on the basis of the Corporation's accounting records and supporting
documents.
Basis of measurement

This Report on Utilization of Capital has been prepared on the cash basis using the historical cost
concept. Under this method, capital used is recognised when payment is made
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

(¢)  Accounting and presentation currency

The Report has been prepared and presented in Vietnamese Dong (“VND™).

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by:
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam : 5
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director
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